VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Shareholders of Voleo Trading Systems Inc. (formerly “Logan Resources Ltd.”)
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Voleo Trading Systems Inc. (formerly “Logan
Resources Ltd.”) (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes
in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies (collectively, the “financial statements”).
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which describes
events and conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. In addition, we draw attention to Note 19 of
the financial statements, which indicates that a recent health crisis may have an adverse impact on the
Company's future operations. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements. As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is David Goertz.

DALE MATHESON CARR-HILTON LABONTE LLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS
Vancouver, BC
April 17, 2020

VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

AS AT
DECEMBER 31,
2019

AS AT
DECEMBER 31,
2018

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Amounts receivable (note 4)
Prepaid expenses (note 5)
Promissory note receivable (note 6)
Investment (note 7)

$

1,449,109
30,122
201,572
1
1,680,804

Deposits (note 8)
Equipment (note 9)

$

239,361
9,004
47,207
109,780
405,352

200,595
8,537

47,890
1,716

$

1,889,936

$

454,958

$

584,822
98,527
683,349

$

182,509
182,509

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
(notes 10 and 11)
Obligation to issue common shares (note 12)
Equity
Share capital (note 12)
Other equity reserves
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Deficit

12,148,811
1,439,422
71
(12,381,717)
1,206,587
$

1,889,936

5,805,559
791,547
4,740
(6,329,397)
272,449
$

454,958

Nature of operations and going concern (note 1)
Commitments (note 18)
Subsequent events (note 19)
Approved on April 17, 2020 on behalf of the Board of Directors:
“Jay Sujir”
Jay Sujir

Director

“Mark Morabito”
Mark Morabito

Director
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

FOR THE
YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,
2019
REVENUE

$

20,963

FOR THE
YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,
2018
$

11,074

EXPENSES (note 13)
Marketing and investor relations
General and administration
Research and development
Commercialization and licensing
Broker dealer compliance
Clearing and execution

964,232
939,574
586,889
176,935
104,145
82,197
(2,853,972)

249,710
478,797
495,892
59,904
97,837
5,383
(1,387,523)

Listing expense (note 3)
Loss on forgiveness of promissory note (note 6)
Impairment loss (note 7)
Interest income
Foreign exchange loss

(2,952,937)
(113,731)
(175,499)
31,765
(8,909)
(3,219,311)

5,650
(3,938)
1,712

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

(6,052,320)

(1,374,737)

(4,669)

2,623

OTHER ITEMS

Foreign currency translation
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR

$

(6,056,989)

$

(1,372,114)

Basic and diluted loss per common share

$

(0.06)

$

(0.02)

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding

96,183,738
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76,692,464

VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

FOR THE
YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,
2019

FOR THE
YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,
2018

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year
Items not affecting cash:
Listing expense
Share-based payments
Loss on forgiveness of promissory note
Impairment loss
Common shares issued for services
Interest income accrued
Depreciation
Net change in non-cash working capital items:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Amounts receivable
Deposits
Prepaid expenses
Cash used in operating activities

$

(6,052,320)

$

(1,374,737)

2,952,937
424,101
113,731
175,499
(3,961)
2,559

59,904
140,000
(5,604)
981

(24,565)
(18,208)
(149,865)
(95,547)
(2,675,639)

135,786
52
(25,791)
(1,069,409)

2,610
(9,380)
(6,770)

-

Promissory note receivable
Issuance of common shares
Obligation to issue common shares
Share issue costs
Cash provided by financing activities
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4,322,400
98,527
(527,021)
3,893,916

1,084,449
(19,332)
1,065,117

Net change in cash during the year

1,211,507

(4,292)

Effect of foreign exchange on cash

(1,759)

(1,272)

239,361

244,925

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Reverse takeover transaction
Purchase of equipment
Cash used in investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash, beginning of the year
Cash, end of the year

$

1,449,109

$

239,361

Cash received for
Interest
Taxes

$
$

27,765
-

$
$

46
-

Supplemental disclosures with respect to cash flows (note 14)
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$

$

12,148,811

5,805,559
263,900
2,778,946
4,058,500
(758,094)
-

4,542,795
1,086,949
55,147
140,000
(19,332)
-

SHARE
CAPITAL

$

$

1,439,422

791,547
43,057
180,717
424,101
-

734,790
(3,147)
59,904
-

OTHER EQUITY
RESERVES

$

$

(12,381,717)

(6,329,397)
(6,052,320)
-

(4,954,660)
(1,374,737)
-

DEFICIT
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107,653,867

79,125,724
1,055,600
(23)
11,115,786
16,234,000
122,780
-

Balance, December 31, 2018
Private placement (note 12)
Fractional rounding due to share exchange (note 3)
Reverse takeover transaction (note 3)
Prospectus offering (note 12)
Share issue costs (note 12)
Share-based payments (notes 12 and 18)
Loss for the year
Translation adjustment

Balance, December 31, 2019

72,421,605
5,279,466
359,773
367,880
680,000
17,000
-

Balance, December 31, 2017
Private placement (note 12)
Bonus shares (note 12)
Exercise of stock options (note 12)
Shares issued for services (notes 12 and 18)
Share issue costs (note 12)
Share-based payments (note 18)
Loss for the year
Translation adjustment

NUMBER OF
COMMON
SHARES

VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

$

$

71

4,740
(4,669)

2,117
2,623

ACCUMULATED
OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

$

$

1,206,587

272,449
263,900
2,822,003
4,058,500
(577,377)
424,101
(6,052,320)
(4,669)

325,042
1,086,949
52,000
140,000
(19,332)
59,904
(1,374,737)
2,623

TOTAL

VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN
Voleo Trading Systems Inc. (formerly “Logan Resources Ltd.”) (the “Company” or “Voleo”) is a
mobile-focused fintech company and has developed mobile applications and software platforms to
meet the investment expectations of investors, including social trading applications for stocks. The
Company’s applications facilitate investment clubs and individual accounts where all users have
access to a community of investors. The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Voleo USA, Inc.
(“Voleo USA”), is a Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) member operating as a
broker-dealer and registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
The Company’s common shares trade on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V” or the “Exchange”)
under the symbol “TRAD” and the OTCQB under the symbol “VLEOF”; and its registered and
records office is #1240 – 1140 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6E
4G1.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. This
presumes funds will be available to finance ongoing development, operations and capital
expenditures, and the realization of assets and payment of liabilities in the normal course of
operations for the foreseeable future.
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had a working capital of $997,455 and an accumulated
deficit of $12,381,717. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company completed equity
financing for gross proceeds of $4,322,400 (note 12); the proceeds of which will be used to further
the business objectives of the Company and for working capital purposes. At present, the Company
has no material operating income or cash flows. The Company intends to finance its future
requirements through equity issuances or the sale of assets. There is no assurance that the
Company will be able to obtain additional financing or obtain it on favorable terms. These material
uncertainties may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments related to the
recoverability of assets and classifications of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company
be unable to continue as a going concern. Such adjustments could be material.

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Boards (“IASB”).
Basis of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries, Voleo, Inc., Voleo USA and Cryptoleo, Inc. All intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated on consolidation.
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VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)
Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, shareholders’ equity, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at
the date of the financial statements, and expenses for the years reported.
Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that
management has made at the end of the reporting period, which could result in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the event that actual results differ
from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following:
(a) The recoverability of receivables, prepayments and deposits that are included in the
consolidated statements of financial position.
(b) The fair value of stock options, warrants and compensation options, which requires the
estimation of stock price volatility, the expected forfeiture rate and the expected term of the
underlying instruments.
(c) The fair value of restricted share units which requires the estimation of the number of awards
likely to vest on grant and at each reporting date up to the vesting date.
(d) The fair value of the investment for which a quoted market price in an active market is not
available.
(e) The recoverability of deferred tax assets based on the assessment of the Company’s ability to
utilize the underlying future tax deductions against future taxable income prior to expiry of those
deductions.
(f) The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and to raise sufficient
funds to pay its ongoing operating expenditures and to meet its liabilities for the ensuing year
involves significant judgment based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Financial instruments
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) provides three different measurement categories for nonderivative financial assets – subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”) or fair value through other comprehensive income – while all non-derivative financial
liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost. The category into which a
financial asset is placed and the resultant accounting treatment is largely dependent on the nature
of the business of the entity holding the financial asset. All financial instruments are initially
recognized at fair value.
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VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
The Company initially recognizes financial assets on the trade date, which is the date that the
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Company
derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially
all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in such
transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Company is recognized as a separate
asset or liability.
The Company classifies all of its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortized cost. All
financial assets that do not meet the criteria to be recognized as subsequently measured at
amortized cost or subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
classified as FVTPL.
Financial liabilities
The Company measures all of its financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortized cost.
Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and are
subsequently measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the amounts originally received,
net of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognized in profit and loss over the period
to maturity using the effective interest method.
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire. The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when the terms of the
liability are modified such that the terms and/or cash flows of the modified instrument are
substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognized at fair value. Gains and losses on derecognition are generally recognized in profit or
loss.
Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost
The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are
measured at amortized cost. At each reporting date, the Company measures the loss allowance
for the financial asset at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on
the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition. If at the reporting date, the
financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company measures the
loss allowance for the financial asset at an amount equal to the twelve month expected credit
losses. The Company shall recognize in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss, as an
impairment gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust
the loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognized.
Foreign currency translation
The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates and has been determined for each entity within the Company. The functional currency of
the Company, Voleo, Inc., and Cryptoleo, Inc. is the Canadian dollar and the functional currency of
Voleo USA is the United States dollar.
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VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued)
Accordingly, the accounts of Voleo USA are translated into Canadian dollars as follows:
x all of the assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange in effect on the date of the
statement of financial position;
x income and expenses are translated at the exchange rate approximating those in effect on the
date of the transactions; and
x exchange gains and losses arising from translation are included in accumulated other
comprehensive income.
Transactions occurring in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity in question are
recorded at exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting
period, the monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the rate of exchange at the date of the statement of financial position while non-monetary assets
and liabilities are translated at historical rates. Income and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates approximating those in effect on the date of the transactions. Exchange gains and losses
arising on translation are included in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss.
Share-based payments
Share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and
amortized over the vesting periods. Share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the
fair value of the goods or services received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is
determined the fair value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded
at the date the goods or services are received. The fair value of the options is recognized over the
vesting period of the options granted as both share-based payments expense and other equity
reserves. This includes a forfeiture estimate, which is revised for actual forfeitures in subsequent
periods. The other equity reserves account is subsequently reduced if the options are exercised
and the amount initially recorded is then credited to share capital.
Basic and diluted loss per share
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the loss for the year by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the year. For diluted loss per share computations,
assumptions are made regarding potential common shares outstanding during the year. The
weighted average number of common shares is increased to include the number of additional
common shares that would be outstanding if, at the beginning of the year, or at time of issuance, if
later, all options and warrants are exercised. Proceeds from exercise are used to purchase the
Company’s common shares at their average market price during the year, thereby reducing the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding. If these computations prove to be antidilutive, diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share.
Research and development
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs are expensed as incurred until such
time they meet criteria specific for deferral and amortization. Management assesses whether it has
met such criteria at each reporting date. In making the assessment, management considers the
status of product development, including but not limited to technical feasibility, intention to
complete, ability to use and sell, probability of future economic benefits, and availability of adequate
resources. The Company has not deferred any product development expenditures to date.
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VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)
Revenue recognition
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”) requires companies to follow a fivestep model to determine if revenue should be recognized:
1. Identify the contracts with customers
2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract
3. Determine the transaction price
4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
5. Recognize revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation
Revenue includes commissions, rebates and subscription fees and is recognized on a trade date
basis.
Equipment
Equipment is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. The cost of an item consists of the
purchase price, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for its intended use, and an initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the
item and restoring the site on which it is located.
Depreciation is provided for at the following rates:
Asset
Computer equipment

Rate
3 years, straight-line method

An item is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset, determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is
recognized in profit or loss in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss.
The residual values, useful lives, and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each reporting
period and adjusted prospectively if appropriate.
Income taxes
Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items
recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
Current taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable
income or loss for the current period and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of
previous periods. Current taxes are determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting period end date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability
differs from its tax base, except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition
of goodwill and temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
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VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)
Income taxes (continued)
Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary
differences is restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. At the end of each reporting period
the Company reassesses unrecognized deferred tax assets. The Company recognizes a
previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are presented separately except where there is a right to offset within a fiscal jurisdiction.
Leases
On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”). IFRS 16 eliminates the
classification of operating leases and requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and lease
liability in the statement of financial position for all leases with exemptions permitted for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets. In addition, IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease; sets
requirements on how to account for the asset and liability, including complexities such as non-lease
elements, variable lease payments and option periods; changes the accounting for sale and
leaseback arrangements; largely retains IAS 17’s approach to lessor accounting; and introduces
new disclosure requirements. The Company has no leases and accordingly the adoption of IFRS
16 had no impact on the consolidated financial statements on adoption on January 1, 2019.

3.

REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTION (“RTO”)
On May 28, 2019, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Voleo, Inc. by
completing a three-cornered amalgamation pursuant to a definitive agreement dated January 29,
2018 (the “Transaction”). The shareholders of Voleo, Inc. exchanged all of their issued and
outstanding common shares for 80,181,301 common shares of the Company as consideration. 1.7
common shares of the Company were issued in exchange for every one common share held of
Voleo, Inc. Outstanding warrants and stock options of the Company and Voleo, Inc. automatically
became exercisable for or could be exchanged for options to acquire common shares of the
Company, subject to all necessary adjustments to reflect the terms of the Transaction and subject
to the terms governing the warrants and stock options.
As a condition to the Transaction, the Company consolidated its common shares on the basis of
one post-consolidated share for every five pre-consolidated common shares held. All references
to common shares and per common share amounts have been retroactively restated to reflect the
consolidation and share exchange.
Prior to the Transaction, the Company was a dormant publicly listed company and did not meet the
definition of a business. Accordingly, the Transaction has been accounted for as a purchase of the
net liabilities of the Company by Voleo, Inc. The purchase consideration was determined as an
equity-settled share-based payment in accordance with IFRS 2, Share-based payment, at the fair
value of the equity instruments retained by the shareholders of the Company. The determination
of the fair value of the equity instruments is detailed below.
For financial reporting purposes, the Company is considered a continuation of Voleo, Inc., the legal
subsidiary, except with regard to authorized and issued share capital which is that of the Company,
the legal parent. Consequently, comparative amounts in these consolidated financial statements
are those of Voleo, Inc. only.
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VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
3.

REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTION (“RTO”) (continued)
The Transaction was recorded as follows:
Consideration:
Value of equity instruments
Value of net liabilities:
Cash
Amounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Investment (note 7)
Deposit (note 8)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Listing expense

$

2,822,003

$

2,610
2,910
58,818
175,500
5,750
(376,522)

$

(130,934)

$

2,952,937

The fair value of equity instruments of $2,822,003 includes:
(a) 11,115,786 outstanding common shares of the Company valued at $2,778,946 or $0.25 per
common share which was the price per common share for the concurrent prospectus offering
completed (note 12);
(b) 4,400,000 outstanding warrants of the Company valued at $4 which was determined using the
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model and the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of
0.86%, expected life of 0.18 years, annualized volatility of 100%, and dividend yield of 0% (note
12); and
(c) 480,000 outstanding stock options of the Company valued at $43,053 which was determined
using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model and the following weighted average
assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 1.57%, expected life of 2.23 years, annualized volatility
of 100%, and dividend yield of 0% (note 12).
4.

AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE
DECEMBER 31,
2019
Sales tax receivable
Other receivables
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DECEMBER 31,
2018

$

29,972
150

$

7,915
1,089

$

30,122

$

9,004

VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
5.

PREPAID EXPENSES
DECEMBER 31,
2019
Marketing and investor relations
Insurance
Broker dealer compliance
Other
Regulatory
Deferred transaction costs

6.

DECEMBER 31,
2018

$

125,009
34,900
22,159
11,432
8,072
-

$

23,459
998
22,750

$

201,572

$

47,207

PROMISSORY NOTE RECEIVABLE
On February 25, 2015, the Company executed a promissory note of $100,000 which was receivable
from a company controlled by the Chief Compliance Officer and former Chief Executive Officer (the
“CCO”) (the “Promissory Note”) and personally guaranteed by the CCO. The Promissory Note was
used by the CCO to purchase 850,000 common shares of Voleo, Inc.
The Promissory Note was non-interest bearing and had an initial maturity date of February 25,
2017. Following the maturity date, the Promissory Note was payable upon demand by the
Company and bore interest at the Royal Bank of Canada prime lending rate plus 2%.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company accrued interest income of $3,961 (2018
- $5,604) with respect to the Promissory Note.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company and the CCO entered into a debt
settlement and release agreement pursuant to which the Promissory Note was extinguished for
cash consideration of $10. As a result, the Company recorded a loss on forgiveness of $113,731
which included the principal balance of the Promissory Note of $100,000 and accrued interest of
$13,741, net of cash consideration received from the CCO of $10.
As at December 31, 2019, the balance of promissory note receivable includes the principal balance
of $nil (2018 - $100,000) and accrued interest of $nil (2018 - $9,780).
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7.

INVESTMENT
Pursuant to the Transaction, the Company acquired 1,300,000 common shares of K2 Resources
Inc. (“K2”) with a fair value of $175,500 (note 3).
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company and K2 entered into a purchase and sale
agreement pursuant to which the Company sold discontinued mineral claims to K2 for consideration
of 700,000 additional common shares of K2 at a nominal value.
Based on an assessment of market conditions and liquidity risk, the Company recorded an
impairment loss with respect to common shares held of K2 of $175,499 during the year ended
December 31, 2019, and impaired the investment to $1.

8.

DEPOSITS
DECEMBER 31,
2019
Clearing deposit
Corporate credit card deposit

DECEMBER 31,
2018

$

194,845
5,750

$

47,890
-

$

200,595

$

47,890

Clearing deposit
On April 28, 2016, Voleo USA entered into a fully disclosed clearing agreement (the “Clearing
Agreement”) with Apex Clearing Corporation (“Apex”) whereby Apex performs the function of a
clearing broker to maintain cash, margin, option or other accounts for Voleo USA and its customers.
Pursuant to the Clearing Agreement, Voleo USA is required to maintain a minimum deposit account
with Apex (the “Deposit Account”) (note 18).
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company deposited an additional $150,098 (2018
- $nil), net of transaction fees deducted of $233 (2018 - $nil), earned interest income of $119 (2018
- $46) and recorded an unrealized foreign exchange loss of $3,029 (2018 – gain of $3,849) in
connection with the Deposit Account.
Corporate credit card deposit
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had $5,750 (2018 - $nil) as a deposit for a corporate credit
card. The deposit was acquired pursuant to the Transaction (note 3) and is automatically renewed
at maturity.
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9.

EQUIPMENT
Equipment
Cost
Balance, December 31, 2017 and 2018
Additions
Balance, December 31, 2019

$

2,942
9,380
12,322

$

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance, December 31, 2017
Depreciation
Balance, December 31, 2018
Depreciation
Balance, December 31, 2019

$

245
981
1,226
2,559
3,785

Net book value
As at December 31, 2018
As at December 31, 2019

$
$

1,716
8,537

$

For the year ended December 31, 2019, depreciation expense of $2,559 (2018 - $981) was
included in research and development expenses in the consolidated statements of loss and
comprehensive loss.
10.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
DECEMBER 31,
2019
Trade payables
Accrued liabilities

DECEMBER 31,
2018

$

407,228
177,594

$

157,424
25,085

$

584,822

$

182,509

As at December 31, 2019, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $50,356 (2018 - $nil)
with respect to share issue costs (note 12).
11.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
Related parties and related party transactions impacting the consolidated financial statements are
summarized below and include transactions with the following individuals or entities:
Key management personnel
Key management personnel include those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Company as a whole. The Company has determined
that key management personnel consists of executive and non-executive members of the
Company’s Board of Directors, and corporate officers, including the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Financial Officer.

16

VOLEO TRADING SYSTEMS INC.
(FORMERLY “LOGAN RESOURCES LTD.”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
11.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Key management personnel (continued)
Remuneration attributed to key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018 can be summarized as follows:
DECEMBER 31,
2019
Short-term benefits
Share-based payments (notes 12 and 18)

DECEMBER 31,
2018

$

242,925
232,271

$

134,823
-

$

475,196

$

134,823

Other related party transactions
Transactions entered into with related parties, other than key management personnel and not
otherwise disclosed, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 include the following:
DECEMBER 31,
2019
King & Bay West Management Corp.
SecuritiesLawUSA, PC

DECEMBER 31,
2018

$

256,590
8,247

$

146,487
-

$

264,837

$

146,487

King & Bay West Management Corp. (“King & Bay West”): King & Bay West is an entity that is
controlled by the Executive Chairman of the Company and employs or retains officers and certain
consultants of the Company. King & Bay West provides administrative, regulatory, legal, finance,
and corporate development services to the Company.
Kewpac Investments Inc. (“Kewpac”): Kewpac is an entity that is controlled by a former director of
the Company and provides corporate advisory services with respect to commercializing and
licensing (note 18).
SecuritiesLawUSA, PC: SecuritiesLawUSA, PC is a law firm that is controlled by a director of the
Company and provides regulatory and legal services to the Company.
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11.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Related party balances
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
As at December 31, 2019, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include the following amounts
due to related parties:
x CCO of the Company - $4,334 (2018 - $5,246) with respect to expenses incurred on behalf of
the Company.
x Momentum Ventures Inc., a company controlled by the CCO of the Company - $15,750 (2018
- $10,500) with respect to consulting services.
x King & Bay West - $159,852 (2018 - $57,694) with respect to the services described above.
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.
Equity
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 103,738 common shares to
related parties for $nil consideration as follows:
x
x
x
x
x

8,500 common shares to a family member of the CCO of the Company;
35,626 common shares to King & Bay West;
5,780 common shares to the family members of a director of the Company;
8,500 common shares to the CCO of the Company; and
45,332 common shares to a company controlled by a director of the Company.

The common shares were issued pursuant to subscription agreements executed during the year
ended December 31, 2016 whereby the subscribers received an additional 10% common shares
in the event that the Company did not complete by January 1, 2018 (i) an initial public offering; (ii)
another transaction as a result of which all outstanding common shares of the Company, or the
securities of another issuer issued in exchange for all such outstanding common shares of the
Company, are traded on a recognized stock exchange and are freely tradable; or (iii) a transaction
as a result of which all outstanding common shares of the Company are acquired for cash
consideration.
12.

SHARE CAPITAL
Authorized
Unlimited number of common shares without par value.
Common share issuances
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 1,055,600 units for gross
proceeds of $263,900. Each unit consists of one common share and one-half of one warrant.
527,798 warrants were issued with an exercise price of $0.40 and expiry of April 30, 2021. The
Company incurred share issue costs of $5,695. The Company also issued 22,780 units to agents.
Each unit issued to the agents consists of one common share and one warrant with an exercise
price of $0.40 and expiry of April 30, 2021. The common shares and warrants issued to the agents
had fair values of $5,695 and $4,018, respectively, which were recorded as share issue costs.
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12.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Common share issuances (continued)
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company closed a prospectus offering in
connection with the Transaction and issued 16,234,000 units for gross proceeds of $4,058,500.
Each unit consists of one common share and one-half of one warrant. 8,117,000 warrants were
issued with an exercise price of $0.40 and expiry of April 30, 2021. In connection with the
prospectus offering, the Company incurred share issue costs of $571,682 of which $50,356 is
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2019. The Company also
issued to agents (i) 100,000 units to agents with each unit consisting of one common share and
one-half of one warrant with an exercise price of $0.40 and expiry of April 30, 2021, and (ii)
1,298,720 compensation options with an exercise price of $0.25 and expiry of April 30, 2021. The
common shares, warrants and compensation options issued to agents had fair values of $25,000,
$5,188 and $171,511, respectively, and were recorded as share issue costs.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 6,327,346 common shares for
private placements, exercise of stock options and services rendered for total consideration of
$1,278,949. The consideration included cash received of $1,084,449, settlement of accounts
payable of $43,700, consulting services received of $140,000 and settlement of a shareholder loan
of $10,800. In addition, the Company incurred cash share issue costs of $19,332 with respect to
the share issuances.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 359,773 common shares for $nil
consideration pursuant to certain subscription agreements executed during the year ended
December 31, 2016 whereby the subscribers received an additional 10% common shares in the
event that the Company did not complete by January 1, 2018 (i) an initial public offering; (ii) another
transaction as a result of which all outstanding common shares of the Company, or the securities
of another issuer issued in exchange for all such outstanding common shares of the Company, are
traded on a recognized stock exchange and are freely tradable; or (iii) a transaction as a result of
which all outstanding common shares of the Company are acquired for cash consideration.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 17,000 common shares valued
at $3,500 to a third party as finders’ fees in connection with an equity financing completed.
Obligation to issue common shares
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had received share subscriptions of US$75,000 ($98,527)
(2018 - $nil) for which common shares had not yet been issued. The amount received relates to
an agreement with Fidelity Information Services, LLC for the right to purchase common shares of
the Company (note 18). Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued
395,040 common shares to satisfy the obligation (note 19).
Stock options
The Company grants stock options to directors, officers, employees and consultants as
compensation for services, pursuant to its Incentive Share Option Plan (the “Stock Option Plan”).
The maximum price shall not be less than the closing price of the common shares on the last
trading day preceding the date on which the grant of options is approved by the Board of Directors.
Options have a maximum expiry period of ten years from the grant date. The number of options
that may be issued under the Stock Option Plan is limited to no more than 10% of the Company's
issued and outstanding shares immediately prior to the grant.
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12.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Stock options (continued)
Pursuant to the Stock Option Plan, options granted in respect of investor relations activities are
subject to vesting restrictions, such that one-quarter of the options vest three months from the grant
date and in each subsequent three-month period thereafter such that the entire option will have
vested twelve months after the award date. Vesting restrictions may also be applied to certain other
option grants, at the discretion of the directors.
The following table summarizes stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018:
Number of stock
options
Outstanding, December 31, 2017
Exercised
Expired
Outstanding, December 31, 2018
Issued
Reverse takeover transaction (note 3)
Expired
Forfeited
Outstanding, December 31, 2019

Weighted
average exercise
price

3,782,500
(367,880)
(732,700)

$0.22
$0.14
$0.12

2,681,920
4,429,000
480,000
(2,392,920)
(800,000)

$0.25
$0.25
$0.59
$0.26
$0.25

4,398,000

$0.28

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 367,880 common shares pursuant
to the exercise of 367,880 stock options. The fair value of the stock options of $3,147 was credited
to share capital.
As at December 31, 2019, the following stock options were outstanding and exercisable:
Outstanding

Exercisable

Exercise
Price

Remaining
life (years)

Expiry date

50,000
204,000
85,000
410,000
3,649,000

50,000
204,000
85,000
410,000
912,250

$0.60
$0.18
$0.18
$0.60
$0.25

0.30
0.55
1.06
1.59
4.41

April 19, 2020
July 20, 2020
January 20, 2021
August 4, 2021
May 28, 2024

4,398,000

1,661,250

The Company recognizes share-based payment expense for all stock options granted using the
fair value based method of accounting. The fair value of stock options is determined by the BlackScholes Option Pricing Model with assumptions for risk-free interest rates, dividend yields, volatility
factors of the expected market price of the Company’s common shares, forfeiture rate, and
expected life of the options.
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12.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Stock options (continued)
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized share-based payment
expense with respect to stock options of $414,366 which was included in general and
administration, research and development and marketing and investor relations expenses in the
amounts of $298,695, $42,709 and $72,962, respectively. No share-based payment expense was
recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018 with respect to stock options.
The Company uses the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model to calculate the fair value of stock
options granted. The model requires management to make estimates, which are subjective and
may not be representative of actual results. Changes in assumptions can materially affect estimates
of fair values. The following weighted average assumptions were used to estimate the weighted
average grant date fair values during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Risk-free interest rate
Expected life (years)
Annualized volatility
Dividend yield

DECEMBER 31,
2019

DECEMBER 31,
2018

1.44%
5
100%
-%

-

Warrants
The following table summarizes warrant activity for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
Number of
warrants
Outstanding, December 31, 2017 and 2018
Issued
Reverse takeover transaction (note 3)
Expired
Outstanding, December 31, 2019

Weighted
average exercise
price

847,570
8,717,578
4,400,000
(4,400,000)

$0.12
$0.40
$1.50
$1.50

9,565,148

$0.37

The Company uses the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model to calculate the fair value of
compensatory warrants. The model requires management to make estimates, which are subjective
and may not be representative of actual results. Changes in assumptions can materially affect
estimates of fair values. The following weighted average assumptions were used to estimate the
weighted average grant date fair values during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Risk-free interest rate
Expected life (years)
Annualized volatility
Dividend yield
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2
100%
-%

-
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12.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Warrants (continued)
As at December 31, 2019, the following warrants were outstanding:
Outstanding

Exercise Price

Remaining life (years)

Expiry date

8,717,578
847,570

$0.40
$0.12

1.33
5.15

April 30, 2021
February 20, 2025

9,565,148
Compensation options
The following table summarizes compensation option activity for the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018:
Number of
compensation
options

Weighted
average exercise
price

Outstanding, December 31, 2017 and 2018
Issued

1,298,720

$0.25

Outstanding, December 31, 2019

1,298,720

$0.25

The Company uses the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model to calculate the fair value of
compensation options. The model requires management to make estimates, which are subjective
and may not be representative of actual results. Changes in assumptions can materially affect
estimates of fair values. The following weighted average assumptions were used to estimate the
weighted average grant date fair values during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Risk-free interest rate
Expected life (years)
Annualized volatility
Dividend yield

DECEMBER 31,
2019

DECEMBER 31,
2018

1.56%
2
100%
-%

-

As at December 31, 2019, the following compensation options were outstanding:

(1)

Outstanding

Exercise Price

Remaining life (years)

Expiry date

1,298,720(1)

$0.25

1.33

April 30, 2021

Each compensation option is exercisable into one share and one half of an additional
compensation option. Each additional compensation option has an exercise price of $0.40
and expires on April 30, 2021.
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12.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Restricted share units
The Company grants restricted share units (“RSUs”) to directors, officers, employees and
consultants as compensation for services, pursuant to its RSU Plan (the “RSU Plan”). One
restricted share unit has the same value as a common share of the Company. The number of RSUs
awarded and underlying vesting conditions are determined by the Board of Directors in its
discretion. At the election of the Board of Directors, upon each vesting date, participants receive
(a) the issuance of common shares from treasury equal to the number of RSUs vesting, or (b) a
cash payment equal to the number of vested RSUs multiplied by the fair market value of a common
share, calculated as the closing price of the common shares on the TSXV for the trading day
immediately preceding such payment date; or (c) a combination of (a) and (b).
On the grant date of RSUs, the Company determines whether it has a present obligation to settle
in cash. If the Company has a present obligation to settle in cash, the RSUs are accounted for as
liabilities, with the fair value remeasured at the end of each reporting period and at the date of
settlement, with any changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss for the period. The Company
has a present obligation to settle in cash if the choice of settlement in shares has no commercial
substance, or the Company has a past practice or a stated policy of setting in cash, or generally
settles in cash whenever the counterparty asks for cash settlement. If no such obligation exists,
RSUs are accounted for as equity settled share-based payments and are valued using the share
price on grant date. Upon settlement:
(a) If the Company elects to settle in cash, the cash payment is accounted for as the repurchase
of an equity interest (i.e. as a deduction from equity), except as noted in (c) below.
(b) If the Company elects to settle by issuing shares, the value of RSUs initially recognized in
reserves is reclassified to share capital, except as noted in (c) below.
(c) If the Company elects the settlement alternative with the higher fair value, as at the date of
settlement, the Company recognizes an additional expense for the excess value given (i.e. the
difference between the cash paid and the fair value of shares that would otherwise have been
issued, or the difference between the fair value of the shares and the amount of cash that would
otherwise have been paid, whichever is applicable).
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company committed to granting 300,000 RSUs to
consultants of the Company with each RSU exercisable into one common share of the Company
or the cash equivalent thereof upon the vesting conditions being met for a period of one year from
the grant date. The Company recorded share-based payment expense of $17,847 which was
included in commercialization and licensing and research and development in the amounts of
$11,898 and $5,949, respectively. The share-based payment expense related to RSUs was
determined based on the Company’s closing share price on December 31, 2019 using the graded
vesting method.
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13.

EXPENSES BY NATURE
DECEMBER 31,
2019
Consulting
Marketing and public relations
Share-based payments (notes 12 and 18)
Professional fees
Salaries and benefits
Travel
Clearing and execution
Computer and software
Regulatory and compliance
Office and miscellaneous
Rent
Depreciation (note 9)

14.

DECEMBER 31,
2018

$

949,624
608,516
424,101
316,947
154,331
88,135
82,197
74,586
68,983
51,582
32,411
2,559

$

724,356
138,510
59,904
149,831
154,388
25,824
5,383
62,314
22,772
15,966
27,294
981

$

2,853,972

$

1,387,523

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS
Non-cash transactions from investing or financing activities during the year ended December 31,
2019 are summarized below:
x
x
x
x

The Company recognized a listing expense of $2,952,937 pursuant to the Transaction (note
3).
The Company issued warrants and compensation options to agents in connection with a
private placement and a prospectus offering. The fair value of $180,717 was recorded as
share issue costs (note 12).
The Company recognized a loss on forgiveness of the Promissory Note of $113,731
comprised of the principal balance of $100,000 and accrued interest of $13,741, net of cash
consideration received of $10 (note 6).
As at December 31, 2019, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $50,356 with
respect to share issue costs (note 10).

Non-cash transactions from investing or financing activities during the year ended December 31,
2018 are summarized below:
x
x
x

The Company issued 680,000 common shares valued at $140,000 for services (notes 12 and
18).
The Company issued 251,795 common shares to settle accounts payable of $43,700 (note
12).
The Company issued 91,800 common shares which was applied to amounts due to a
shareholder $10,800 (note 12).
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15.

INCOME TAXES
The following is a reconciliation of income taxes attributable to operations computed at the statutory
tax rates to income tax recovery.
DECEMBER 31,
2019

DECEMBER 31,
2018

Loss for the year

$

6,052,320

$

1,374,737

Income tax recovery at statutory rates
Permanent differences
Share issue costs
Impact of different foreign statutory tax rates on
earnings of subsidiaries
Changes in unrecognized deductible temporary
differences

$

(1,634,000)
129,000
(204,000)

$

(371,000)
17,000
(43,000)

Total income tax recovery

$

(13,000)

(8,000)

1,722,000

405,000

-

$

-

The significant deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and expiry dates are as follows:
December 31,
2019
Non-capital losses
available for future period
– Canada
Non-capital losses
available for future period
– United States
Share issue costs

$

9,554,000

$
$

Expiry Date
Range

December 31,
2018

2033 – 2039

$

5,017,000

569,000

No expiry

$

366,000

600,000

No expiry

$

19,000

Tax attributes are subject to review and potential adjustment by tax authorities.
16.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company defines capital as all components of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company.
The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management,
but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain future development of
the business.
In the past, the Company has raised funds through the issuance of common shares. However, it is
uncertain whether the Company will continue to be successful in raising funds through the issuance
of common shares in the future. Management reviews its capital management approach on an
ongoing basis and believes this approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.
There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended
December 31, 2019.
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16.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
Voleo USA is subject to the SEC’s Uniform Net Capital Rule, 15c3-1, (the “Rule”), which requires
the maintenance of minimum net capital and requires that the ratio of aggregate indebtedness to
net capital, as both defined, shall not exceed 15 to 1. In accordance with the Rule, Voleo USA is
required to maintain defined minimum net capital equal to the greater of US$5,000 or 1/15th of
aggregate indebtedness. As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, Voleo USA exceeded the minimum
net capital requirement.

17.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company’s financial instruments are subject to certain risks.
Credit risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist
principally of cash, amounts receivable and deposits. The risk arises from the non-performance by
counterparties of contractual financial obligations. To minimize credit risk, the Company places
cash and deposits with high credit quality financial institutions and brokerage firms. The Company’s
amounts receivable consists mainly of input tax credits due from the Government of Canada and
as such are exposed to insignificant credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of the Company’s financial
instruments.
Liquidity risk
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to have sufficient funds to meet liabilities
when they become due. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company completed
equity financing for gross proceeds of $4,322,400 (note 12); the proceeds of which will be used to
further the business objectives of the Company and for working capital purposes.
Market risk
Market risks consist of interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk.
Interest rate risk
As at December 31, 2019, the Company is not exposed to interest rate risk.
Foreign currency risk
Voleo USA incurs operating expenditures denominated in US dollars in connection with its
registered broker dealer functions, exposing the Company to foreign currency risk. The Company’s
financing has been primarily denominated in Canadian dollars but any future equity raised may be
in either US dollars or Canadian dollars. As at December 31, 2019, approximately 3% of cash and
97% of deposits are held in US dollar bank or brokerage accounts. A 10% change in the Canadian
dollar versus the US dollar would affect the loss of the Company by approximately $2,000 and the
comprehensive loss of the Company by approximately $21,000.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Other price risk
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate due to changes in market prices, other than those arising from interest rate risk.
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to its investment in K2. The Company has
determined that its ability to realize on this investment is uncertain and has therefore reduced the
carrying value to $1 (note 7).
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as
the potential adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to movements in individual equity
prices or general movements in the level of the stock market. The Company’s ability to raise capital
to fund operations is subject to risks associated with equity prices.

18.

COMMITMENTS
Apex Clearing Agreement
Voleo USA entered into the Clearing Agreement with Apex whereby Apex performs the function of
a clearing broker to maintain cash, margin, option or other accounts for Voleo USA and its
customers.
Pursuant to the Clearing Agreement, as amended, Voleo USA is required to maintain a minimum
balance in the Deposit Account (note 8). During the year ended December 31, 2019, Voleo USA
increased the balance of the Deposit Account to US$150,000 in accordance with the Clearing
Agreement.
In addition, the Clearing Agreement, as amended, requires minimum monthly clearance payments
of US$10,000 effective July 1, 2019.
Kewpac Consulting Agreement
On December 1, 2017, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with Kewpac to perform
the functions of a corporate advisor (the “Kewpac Consulting Agreement”) (note 11).
Pursuant to the Kewpac Consulting Agreement, the Company shall issue up to a total of 1,700,000
common shares of the Company to Kewpac in installments upon the achievement of certain
milestones relating to commercialization of business-to-business (“B2B”) activities.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 680,000 common shares valued
at $140,000 pursuant to the Kewpac Consulting Agreement and related milestones (note 12).
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COMMITMENTS (continued)
Kewpac Consulting Agreement (continued)
As of December 31, 2019, there remains 1,020,000 common shares of the Company issuable to
Kewpac upon the achievement of certain milestones defined in the Kewpac Consulting Agreement.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized a recovery of share-based
payments expense of $8,112 (2018 – expense of $59,904) based on the estimate of the shares
expected to vest. The share-based payments expense (recovery) was based on a share price of
$0.21 and included in commercialization and licensing expense in the consolidated statements of
loss and comprehensive loss.
FIS Agreement
On April 29, 2019, the Company executed an agreement with Fidelity Information Services, LLC
(“FIS”) which provided FIS the right to purchase up to US$75,000 (the “Purchase Amount”) in
common shares to be paid in three equal installments of US$25,000 based on certain milestones
completed by the Company by July 19, 2019.
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had received US$75,000 ($98,527) from FIS which is
included in the balance of obligation to issue common shares (note 12). Subsequent to the year
ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 395,040 common shares to FIS to satisfy the
obligation (note 19).

19.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The following reportable events occurred subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2019:
x

On February 28, 2020, the Company granted 100,000 RSUs to a consultant of the Company.

x

On March 23, 2020, the Company issued 100,000 common shares upon the vesting of
100,000 RSUs.

x

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic related to the virus
known as COVID-19. The expected impacts on global commerce are anticipated to be far
reaching. To date there have been significant wide-spread stock market declines and the
movement of people and goods has become restricted.
As the Company has no material operating income or cash flows, it is reliant on additional
financing to fund ongoing operations. An extended disruption may affect the Company’s ability
to obtain additional financing. The impact on the economy and the Company is not yet
determinable; however the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows
in future periods may be materially affected. In particular, there may be heightened risk of
asset impairment and liquidity or going concern uncertainty. The Company continues to work
on revisions to forecasts and plans in light of the current conditions and will use these updated
assumptions and forecasts in the measurement of our assets going forward.
Consistent with IFRS, the Company has not reflected these subsequent conditions in the
measurement of assets or liabilities as at December 31, 2019.

x

On April 15, 2020, the Company issued 395,040 common shares to FIS for consideration
received during the year ended December 31, 2019 (notes 12 and 18).
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*(1(5$/

7KHIROORZLQJPDQDJHPHQW¶VGLVFXVVLRQDQGDQDO\VLV ³0' $´ LVLQWHQGHGWRVXSSOHPHQWDQGFRPSOHPHQWWKH
FRQVROLGDWHG ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV DQG DFFRPSDQ\LQJ QRWHV RI 9ROHR 7UDGLQJ 6\VWHPV ,QF IRUPHUO\ ³/RJDQ
5HVRXUFHV/WG´  WKH³&RPSDQ\´RU³9ROHR´ IRUWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

$OOGROODUILJXUHVSUHVHQWHGDUHH[SUHVVHGLQ&DQDGLDQGROODUVXQOHVVRWKHUZLVHQRWHG)LQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQG
VXPPDU\ LQIRUPDWLRQ GHULYHG WKHUHIURP DUH SUHSDUHG LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK ,QWHUQDWLRQDO )LQDQFLDO 5HSRUWLQJ
6WDQGDUGV ³,)56´ 

0DQDJHPHQWLVUHVSRQVLEOHIRUWKHSUHSDUDWLRQDQGLQWHJULW\RIWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVLQFOXGLQJWKHPDLQWHQDQFH
RIDSSURSULDWHLQIRUPDWLRQV\VWHPVSURFHGXUHVDQGLQWHUQDOFRQWUROVDQGWRHQVXUHWKDWLQIRUPDWLRQXVHGLQWHUQDOO\
RUGLVFORVHGH[WHUQDOO\LQFOXGLQJWKHFRQVROLGDWHGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQG0' $LVFRPSOHWHDQGUHOLDEOH7KH
&RPSDQ\¶V%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUVIROORZVUHFRPPHQGHGFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHJXLGHOLQHVWRHQVXUHWUDQVSDUHQF\
DQGDFFRXQWDELOLW\WRVKDUHKROGHUV7KH%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUV¶DXGLWFRPPLWWHHPHHWVZLWKPDQDJHPHQWTXDUWHUO\WR
UHYLHZWKHFRQVROLGDWHGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQGWKH0' $DQGWRGLVFXVVRWKHUILQDQFLDORSHUDWLQJDQGLQWHUQDO
FRQWUROPDWWHUV

7KHUHDGHULVHQFRXUDJHGWRUHYLHZWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVWDWXWRU\ILOLQJVRQZZZVHGDUFRP

)25:$5'/22.,1*67$7(0(176

,QIRUPDWLRQ VHW IRUWK LQ WKLV 0' $ PD\ LQYROYH IRUZDUGORRNLQJ LQIRUPDWLRQ XQGHU DSSOLFDEOH VHFXULWLHV ODZV
)RUZDUGORRNLQJLQIRUPDWLRQLVLQIRUPDWLRQWKDWUHODWHVWRIXWXUHQRWSDVWHYHQWV,QWKLVFRQWH[WIRUZDUGORRNLQJ
LQIRUPDWLRQRIWHQDGGUHVVHVH[SHFWHGIXWXUHEXVLQHVVDQGILQDQFLDOSHUIRUPDQFHDQGRIWHQFRQWDLQVZRUGVVXFK
DV DQWLFLSDWH EHOLHYH SODQ HVWLPDWH H[SHFW DQG LQWHQG VWDWHPHQWV WKDW DQ DFWLRQ RU HYHQW PD\
PLJKW FRXOG VKRXOG RU ZLOO EH WDNHQ RU RFFXU RU RWKHU VLPLODU H[SUHVVLRQV $OO VWDWHPHQWV RWKHU WKDQ
VWDWHPHQWV RI KLVWRULFDO IDFW LQFOXGHG KHUHLQ LQFOXGLQJ ZLWKRXW OLPLWDWLRQ VWDWHPHQWV DERXW DQWLFLSDWHG IXWXUH
UHYHQXHVDQGH[SHQVHVWKHVXIILFLHQF\RIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VZRUNLQJFDSLWDOWKH&RPSDQ\¶VEXVLQHVVREMHFWLYHV
DQG SODQV WKH FRPSOHWLRQ RI IXWXUH ILQDQFLQJV DQG WKH XVH RI ILQDQFLQJ SURFHHGV FRQWDLQ IRUZDUGORRNLQJ
LQIRUPDWLRQ%\LWVQDWXUHIRUZDUGORRNLQJLQIRUPDWLRQLQYROYHVNQRZQDQGXQNQRZQULVNVXQFHUWDLQWLHVDQGRWKHU
IDFWRUVZKLFKPD\FDXVHDFWXDOUHVXOWVSHUIRUPDQFHRUDFKLHYHPHQWVRURWKHUIXWXUHHYHQWVWREHPDWHULDOO\
GLIIHUHQW IURP DQ\ IXWXUH UHVXOWV SHUIRUPDQFH RU DFKLHYHPHQWV H[SUHVVHG RU LPSOLHG E\ VXFK IRUZDUGORRNLQJ
LQIRUPDWLRQ6XFKIDFWRUVLQFOXGHDPRQJRWKHUVWKHIROORZLQJULVNVWKHQHHGIRUDGGLWLRQDOILQDQFLQJRSHUDWLRQDO
ULVNV DVVRFLDWHG ZLWK D VWDUWXS WHFKQRORJ\ EXVLQHVV UHOLDQFH RQ NH\ SHUVRQQHO WKH SRWHQWLDO IRU FRQIOLFWV RI
LQWHUHVW DPRQJ FHUWDLQ RIILFHUV GLUHFWRUV RU SURPRWHUV ZLWK FHUWDLQ RWKHU HQWLWLHV WKH DEVHQFH RI GLYLGHQGV
FRPSHWLWLRQGLOXWLRQWKHLQDELOLW\WRREWDLQUHJXODWRU\DSSURYDOVWKHLPSDFWRIJRYHUQPHQWUHJXODWLRQVLQ&DQDGD
DQGWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVWKHLPSDFWRIJHQHUDOHFRQRPLFFRQGLWLRQVFKDQJLQJGRPHVWLFDQGLQWHUQDWLRQDOLQGXVWU\
FRQGLWLRQV WKH DELOLW\ RI PDQDJHPHQW WR LPSOHPHQW LWV RSHUDWLRQDO VWUDWHJ\ WKH DELOLW\ WR DWWUDFW TXDOLILHG
PDQDJHPHQW DQG VWDII UHJXODWRU\ ULVNV ILQDQFLQJ FDSLWDOL]DWLRQ DQG OLTXLGLW\ ULVNV LQFOXGLQJ WKH ULVN WKDW WKH
ILQDQFLQJQHFHVVDU\WRIXQGRSHUDWLRQVPD\QRWEHREWDLQHGDQGWKHDGGLWLRQDOULVNVLGHQWLILHGLQWKH³5LVN)DFWRUV´
VHFWLRQRIWKLV0' $

,Q DGGLWLRQ IRUZDUGORRNLQJ LQIRUPDWLRQ LV EDVHG RQ YDULRXV DVVXPSWLRQV LQFOXGLQJ ZLWKRXW OLPLWDWLRQ WKH
H[SHFWDWLRQVDQGEHOLHIVRIPDQDJHPHQWLQFOXGLQJWKDWWKH&RPSDQ\FDQDFFHVVILQDQFLQJWKHWLPHO\UHFHLSWRI
JRYHUQPHQWDODSSURYDOVLQFOXGLQJWKHUHFHLSWRIDSSURYDOIURPUHJXODWRUVLQMXULVGLFWLRQVZKHUHWKH&RPSDQ\PD\
RSHUDWH WKH WLPHO\ FRPPHQFHPHQW RI RSHUDWLRQV DQG WKH VXFFHVV RI VXFK RSHUDWLRQV DQG WKH DELOLW\ RI WKH
&RPSDQ\ WR LPSOHPHQW LWV EXVLQHVV SODQ DV LQWHQGHG  6KRXOG RQH RU PRUH RI WKHVH ULVNV DQG XQFHUWDLQWLHV
PDWHULDOL]H RU VKRXOG XQGHUO\LQJ DVVXPSWLRQV SURYH LQFRUUHFW DFWXDO UHVXOWV PD\ YDU\ PDWHULDOO\ IURP WKRVH
GHVFULEHG LQ IRUZDUGORRNLQJ LQIRUPDWLRQ  )RUZDUGORRNLQJ LQIRUPDWLRQ LV EDVHG RQ PDQDJHPHQW V EHOLHIV
HVWLPDWHV DQG RSLQLRQV RQ WKH GDWH WKDW VWDWHPHQWV DUH PDGH DQG WKH &RPSDQ\ XQGHUWDNHV QR REOLJDWLRQ WR
XSGDWHIRUZDUGORRNLQJLQIRUPDWLRQLIWKHVHEHOLHIVHVWLPDWHVDQGRSLQLRQVRURWKHUFLUFXPVWDQFHVVKRXOGFKDQJH
H[FHSWDVUHTXLUHGE\DSSOLFDEOHVHFXULWLHVODZV,QYHVWRUVDUHFDXWLRQHGDJDLQVWDWWULEXWLQJXQGXHFHUWDLQW\WR
IRUZDUGORRNLQJLQIRUPDWLRQ
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7KH&RPSDQ\LVDPRELOHIRFXVHGILQWHFKFRPSDQ\DQGKDVGHYHORSHGPRELOHDSSOLFDWLRQVDQGVRIWZDUHSODWIRUPV
WR PHHW WKH LQYHVWPHQW H[SHFWDWLRQV RI LQYHVWRUV HVSHFLDOO\ *HQ ;<= WKRVH DJHG  WR   LQFOXGLQJ VRFLDO
WUDGLQJDSSOLFDWLRQVIRUVWRFNV7KH&RPSDQ\¶VDSSOLFDWLRQVIDFLOLWDWHLQYHVWPHQWFOXEVDQGLQGLYLGXDODFFRXQWV
ZKHUHDOOXVHUVKDYHDFFHVVWRDFRPPXQLW\RILQYHVWRUV7KH&RPSDQ\¶VZKROO\RZQHGVXEVLGLDU\9ROHR86$
,QF ³9ROHR86$´ LVD)LQDQFLDO,QGXVWU\5HJXODWRU\$XWKRULW\ ³),15$´ PHPEHURSHUDWLQJDVDEURNHUGHDOHU
DQGUHJLVWHUHGZLWKWKH866HFXULWLHVDQG([FKDQJH&RPPLVVLRQ WKH³6(&´ 

5(&(17'(9(/230(176

7KH&RPSDQ\LVFXUUHQWO\GHYHORSLQJDQHZUHVSRQVLYHZHEDSSZKLFKLVEHLQJRSWLPLVHGIRUZKLWHODEHODQG
IDFLOLWDWHV LQWHJUDWLRQ LQWR WKLUG SDUW\ EDQNLQJ DSSOLFDWLRQV 7KH UHVSRQVLYH SODWIRUP ZKLFK LV WKH ELJJHVW
LPSURYHPHQWWR9ROHR¶VSODWIRUPVLQFHWKHSURGXFWLRQDSSVZHUHEXLOWLQLVVODWHGWRODXQFKLQWKHVHFRQG
TXDUWHURI7KH&RPSDQ\KDVSDUWQHUHGZLWK&RQYHUJHQFH&RQFHSWV,QF ³&RQYHUJHQFH´ DFXWWLQJHGJH
VRIWZDUH GHYHORSPHQW GHVLJQ DQG FRQVXOWLQJ DJHQF\ VSHFLDOL]LQJ LQ HQWHUSULVHFODVV FXVWRP SODWIRUPV  7KH
SDUWQHUVKLSOHYHUDJHV&RQYHUJHQFH¶VH[SHUWLVHLQXVHUH[SHULHQFHDQG$,GHYHORSPHQWWRDGYDQFHWKHSODWIRUP
IHDWXUHV DQG XVHU H[SHULHQFH RI 9ROHR¶V L26 $QGURLG DQG ZHE DSSOLFDWLRQV  $ NH\ RXWFRPH RI WKH SODWIRUP
HYROXWLRQ LV D XQLILHG FRGHEDVH DFURVV DOO WKUHH SODWIRUPV  7KLV DOORZV VWUHDPOLQHG HIILFLHQW UROORXWV RI QHZ
IHDWXUHVDQGDJLOHWHVWLQJRIPDUNHWLQJDQGXVHUMRXUQH\VDVWKHEXVLQHVVORRNVWRVFDOHLWV%&FXVWRPHUEDVH
7KH QHZ UHDFWEDVHG SODWIRUPV ZLOO DOVR VXSSRUW PRUH QLPEOH UREXVW LQWHJUDWLRQV ZLWK IXWXUH %% SDUWQHUV
LQFOXGLQJ FUHGLW XQLRQV DQG ILQDQFLDO LQVWLWXWLRQV ZRUOGZLGH  7KH FROODERUDWLRQ PDUNV DQ LQIOHFWLRQ SRLQW LQ WKH
&RPSDQ\¶VHYROXWLRQDVDEXVLQHVVDOORZLQJWKHFRPSDQ\WRVKLIWLWVIRFXVWRZDUGVJURZWKVFDODELOLW\DQGXVHU
VXFFHVV

,Q WKH ILUVW TXDUWHU RI  9ROHR¶V XVHU FRPPXQLW\ VHW QHZ UHFRUGV IRU DFFRXQW FRQWULEXWLRQV FRPELQHG ZLWK
JURZWKLQFOXEGLYHUVLW\DQGVL]H9ROHRXVHUVFRQWULEXWHGWRWKHLULQYHVWPHQWDFFRXQWVE\XWLOL]LQJ9ROHR¶VVLPSOH
UHFXUULQJFRQWULEXWLRQIHDWXUHLQFUHDVLQJDVVHWVSHUIXQGHGXVHUFRPSDUHGWRWKHSUHYLRXV\HDU9ROHRFRQWLQXHV
WRDWWUDFWLQYHVWRUVZLWKGLYHUVHH[SHULHQFHDQGEDFNJURXQGV

,Q'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\EHJDQWUDGLQJRQWKH27&4%XQGHUWKHV\PERO³9/(2)´7KH27&4%9HQWXUH
0DUNHW LV IRU HDUO\VWDJH DQG GHYHORSLQJ 86 DQG LQWHUQDWLRQDO FRPSDQLHV DQG WUDGLQJ RQ WKH 27&4% LV
FRQVLVWHQWZLWKWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVWUDWHJ\RIDWWUDFWLQJLQYHVWRUVDVXVHUVDQGYLFHYHUVD

,Q6HSWHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\DQQRXQFHGWKDWLWKDGPRUHWKDQGRXEOHGLWVUHJLVWHUHGXVHUEDVHRYHUDWKUHH
PRQWKSHULRGZLWK*RRJOH¶V'LJLWDO6WUDWHJ\SURJUDP7KH*RRJOH'LJLWDO6WUDWHJ\3URJUDPLVDQLQLWLDWLYHWKDW
DLPV WR RSWLPL]H VHOHFWHG VWDUWXS FRPSDQLHV¶ PDUNHWLQJ VSHQG E\ H[SDQGLQJ DGYHUWLVLQJ LQ YDULRXV WDUJHWHG
FDWHJRULHV7KH&RPSDQ\H[HFXWHGDVHULHVRIFDPSDLJQVXVLQJ8QLYHUVDO$SS&DPSDLJQVZKLFKVHUYHVRQ$G
0RE*RRJOH3OD\6HDUFK*RRJOH'LVSOD\1HWZRUNDQG<RX7XEH*RRJOH¶VSDLGWUDIILFNLFNHGRIIWKHELJJHVW
F\FOHRIFXVWRPHUIDFLQJDSSFKDQJHVVLQFH9ROHR¶VLQLWLDOVRIWODXQFK7KH&RPSDQ\QRZKDVDVLJQLILFDQWEDVH
RIERWKRUJDQLFDQGSDLGVLJQXSVDQGLVRQERDUGLQJFXVWRPHUVE\GHHSHQLQJHQJDJHPHQWIURPILUVWORJLQ5DSLG
GDWDGULYHQGHSOR\PHQWZLOOIXUWKHUVWUHQJWKHQFRQYHUVLRQ7RVXSSRUWQHZUHJLVWUDQWVWKH&RPSDQ\DOVREURXJKW
RQ LWV ILUVW IXOOWLPH FXVWRPHU DFWLYDWLRQ DQG VXSSRUW PDQDJHU 7KH SULPDU\ REMHFWLYHV DUH WR RQERDUG QHZ
FXVWRPHUVDQGSURYLGHWKHPZLWKJXLGDQFHWRDFFHOHUDWHJURZWK3URYLGLQJGLUHFWDFFHVVWRDGHGLFDWHGWHDP
PHPEHUHVWDEOLVKHVWUXVWDQGDIILUPVWKHFRPSDQ\¶VFRPPLWPHQWWREHVWLQFODVVFXVWRPHUVHUYLFH

,Q6HSWHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\UROOHGRXWIHDWXUHXSGDWHVIRULWVIODJVKLSWUDGLQJSODWIRUPLQFOXGLQJDQH[SDQVLRQ
RIDYDLODEOHVHFXULWLHVZKLFKLQFOXGHSHQQ\VWRFNVDVDUHVXOW9ROHRXVHUVLQWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVDUHDEOHWRWUDGH
DEURDGHUXQLYHUVHRIVWRFNVDQG(7)V$GGLWLRQDOXSGDWHVHQFRXUDJHQHZXVHUVWRHDVLO\IRUPZDWFKOLVWVDQG
SDUWLFLSDWHLQWKHFRPPXQLW\9ROHRDOVRUHGHVLJQHGLWVVWRFNUHVHDUFKVFUHHQDQGGHSOR\HGDGRFXPHQWVLQWHUIDFH
WKDWZLOOHQKDQFHXVHUH[SHULHQFH
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2Q0D\WKH&RPSDQ\DFTXLUHGDOORIWKHLVVXHGDQGRXWVWDQGLQJVKDUHVRI9ROHR,QFE\FRPSOHWLQJD
WKUHHFRUQHUHG DPDOJDPDWLRQ WKH ³7UDQVDFWLRQ´  ZKLFK LV GHWDLOHG EHORZ LQ ³5HYHUVH 7DNHRYHU 7UDQVDFWLRQ´
&RQFXUUHQWZLWKWKH7UDQVDFWLRQWKH&RPSDQ\FRPSOHWHGDSURVSHFWXVRIIHULQJIRUJURVVSURFHHGVRI
ZKLFKLVEHLQJXVHGWRIXUWKHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VEXVLQHVVREMHFWLYHVRIGHYHORSLQJDQGFRPPHUFLDOL]LQJLWVPRELOH
ILUVW ZHE HQDEOHG HTXLW\ WUDGLQJ SODWIRUPV LQFOXGLQJ PDUNHWLQJ FXVWRPHU DFTXLVLWLRQ WHFKQLFDO GHYHORSPHQW
VWUDWHJLFSDUWQHUVKLSVDQGJHQHUDODQGDGPLQLVWUDWLYHH[SHQVHV

'HVSLWHJURZWKDQGSRVLWLYHLQGLFDWRUVWRZDUGIXWXUHJURZWKZKLFKFRQWLQXHGXULQJWKHFXUUHQW&29,'FULVLV
9ROHR¶VSODWIRUPZLOOQRWDFKLHYHSURILWDELOLW\LQ9ROHRZLOOUHTXLUHDGGLWLRQDOLQMHFWLRQVRIFDSLWDOWRFRQWLQXH
WRIXQGLWVRSHUDWLRQV'LVFXVVLRQVZLWKSRWHQWLDOVWUDWHJLFDQGILQDQFLDOLQYHVWRUVDUHXQGHUZD\DQGLQRUGHUWR
SRVLWLRQ9ROHRIRUVXFFHVVLQWKHIXWXUH9ROHRLVXQGHUWDNLQJDUHVWUXFWXULQJRILWVVKDUHFDSLWDODQGRXWVWDQGLQJ
OLDELOLWLHV9ROHRKDVDOVRVLJQLILFDQWO\UHGXFHGRSHUDWLQJH[SHQVHVLQDUHDVQRWFRQQHFWHGZLWKFXVWRPHUVHUYLFH
DQGZLOOFRQWLQXHWREHYLJLODQWLQRQJRLQJH[SHQVHPDQDJHPHQW,I9ROHRLVXQDEOHWRREWDLQDGGLWLRQDOILQDQFLQJ
LWPD\EHUHTXLUHGWRVHOODVVHWVRUGLVFRQWLQXHOLQHVRIEXVLQHVV

5(9(56(7$.(29(575$16$&7,21

2Q 0D\   WKH &RPSDQ\ FRPSOHWHG WKH 7UDQVDFWLRQ DQG DV D UHVXOW WKH VKDUHKROGHUV RI 9ROHR ,QF
H[FKDQJHGDOORIWKHLULVVXHGDQGRXWVWDQGLQJFRPPRQVKDUHVIRUFRPPRQVKDUHVRIWKH&RPSDQ\
DVFRQVLGHUDWLRQFRPPRQVKDUHVRIWKH&RPSDQ\ZHUHLVVXHGLQH[FKDQJHIRUHYHU\RQHFRPPRQVKDUH
KHOGRI9ROHR,QF2XWVWDQGLQJZDUUDQWVDQGVWRFNRSWLRQVRIWKH&RPSDQ\DQG9ROHR,QFDXWRPDWLFDOO\EHFDPH
H[HUFLVDEOH IRU RU FRXOG EH H[FKDQJHG IRU RSWLRQV WR DFTXLUH FRPPRQ VKDUHV RI WKH &RPSDQ\ VXEMHFW WR DOO
QHFHVVDU\DGMXVWPHQWVWRUHIOHFWWKHWHUPVRIWKH7UDQVDFWLRQDQGVXEMHFWWRWKHWHUPVJRYHUQLQJWKHZDUUDQWV
DQGVWRFNRSWLRQV

$V D FRQGLWLRQ WR WKH 7UDQVDFWLRQ WKH &RPSDQ\ FRQVROLGDWHG LWV FRPPRQ VKDUHV RQ WKH EDVLV RI RQH SRVW
FRQVROLGDWHGVKDUHIRUHYHU\ILYHSUHFRQVROLGDWHGFRPPRQVKDUHVKHOG$OOUHIHUHQFHVWRFRPPRQVKDUHVDQG
SHUFRPPRQVKDUHDPRXQWVKDYHEHHQUHWURDFWLYHO\UHVWDWHGWRUHIOHFWWKHFRQVROLGDWLRQDQGVKDUHH[FKDQJH

3ULRUWRWKH7UDQVDFWLRQWKH&RPSDQ\ZDVDGRUPDQWSXEOLFO\OLVWHGFRPSDQ\DQGGLGQRWPHHWWKHGHILQLWLRQRID
EXVLQHVV$FFRUGLQJO\WKH7UDQVDFWLRQKDVEHHQDFFRXQWHGIRUDVDSXUFKDVHRIWKHQHWOLDELOLWLHVRIWKH&RPSDQ\
E\ 9ROHR ,QF  7KH SXUFKDVH FRQVLGHUDWLRQ ZDV GHWHUPLQHG DV DQ HTXLW\VHWWOHG VKDUHEDVHG SD\PHQW LQ
DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK ,)56  Share-based payment DW WKH IDLU YDOXH RI WKH HTXLW\ LQVWUXPHQWV UHWDLQHG E\ WKH
VKDUHKROGHUVRIWKH&RPSDQ\

)RUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJSXUSRVHVWKH&RPSDQ\LVFRQVLGHUHGDFRQWLQXDWLRQRI9ROHR,QFWKHOHJDOVXEVLGLDU\
H[FHSW ZLWK UHJDUG WR DXWKRUL]HG DQG LVVXHG VKDUH FDSLWDO ZKLFK LV WKDW RI WKH &RPSDQ\ WKH OHJDO SDUHQW
&RQVHTXHQWO\FRPSDUDWLYHDPRXQWVLQWKHDFFRPSDQ\LQJFRQVROLGDWHGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQGWKLV0' $DUH
WKRVHRI9ROHR,QFRQO\

'XULQJWKH\HDUSHULRGHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\UHFRUGHGDOLVWLQJH[SHQVHRIZKLFK
LQFOXGHVWKHIDLUYDOXHRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHTXLW\LQVWUXPHQWVRIDQGLWVQHWOLDELOLWLHVRQWKHWUDQVDFWLRQ
GDWHRI








9ROHR7UDGLQJ6\VWHPV,QF
IRUPHUO\³/RJDQ5HVRXUFHV/WG´ 
0DQDJHPHQW¶V'LVFXVVLRQ $QDO\VLV
)RUWKH<HDU(QGHG'HFHPEHU
'DWH3UHSDUHG$SULO
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7KH IROORZLQJ ILQDQFLDO GDWD DUH VHOHFWHG LQIRUPDWLRQ IRU WKH &RPSDQ\ IRU WKH WKUHH PRVW UHFHQWO\ FRPSOHWHG
ILQDQFLDO\HDUV



'HFHPEHU 
'HFHPEHU  'HFHPEHU




 
5HYHQXH

 
 

/RVVIRUWKH\HDU



  

/RVVSHUVKDUH EDVLFDQGGLOXWHG 



  

7RWDODVVHWV

 
 


'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU9ROHR86$FRPSOHWHGWKHSURFHVVWREHFRPHD),15$PHPEHUDQG
EHJDQWRJHQHUDWHFRPPLVVLRQDQGUHEDWHUHYHQXHVGXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU5HYHQXHZDV
HDUQHGE\9ROHR86$RQDSHUWUDGHEDVLVDQGLQFUHDVHG\HDURYHU\HDUDVDUHVXOWRILQFUHDVHGWUDGHVIURPDQ
LQFUHDVHGFXVWRPHUEDVH,QWKHIXWXUHZKLWHODEHOIHHVIURPOLFHQVLQJLWVWHFKQRORJ\WRWKLUGSDUWLHVDUHH[SHFWHG
WRH[SDQGWKHUHYHQXHPL[,QUHVSRQVHWRDQLQGXVWU\VKLIWWR]HURFRPPLVVLRQWUDGLQJWKH&RPSDQ\UHPRYHG
FRPPLVVLRQVRQWUDGHVDQGLPSOHPHQWHGDVXEVFULSWLRQPRGHOHIIHFWLYH'HFHPEHU7KHVXEVFULSWLRQ
PRGHOFKDUJHVPRQWKO\IHHVLQSODFHRISHUWUDGHFRPPLVVLRQV7KHFKDQJHLQIHHVWUXFWXUHZDVUHYHQXHQHXWUDO
WRWKH&RPSDQ\DWWKHWLPHRILPSOHPHQWDWLRQ)XWXUHUHYHQXHJHQHUDWHGRQDVXEVFULSWLRQEDVLVZLOOGHSHQGRQ
IDFWRUVEH\RQGWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQWUROVXFKDVWKHFRPSRVLWLRQRIWHDPVDQGRYHUDOOWUDGLQJYROXPHV

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VH[SHQGLWXUHVDUHGULYHQE\WKHDYDLODELOLW\RIILQDQFLQJWRIXQGFRQWLQXHGRSHUDWLRQV7KHLQFUHDVH
LQORVVIRUWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUFRPSDUHGWRWKHSUHYLRXV\HDULVH[SODLQHGE\WKH7UDQVDFWLRQDQG
UHVXOWLQJ OLVWLQJ H[SHQVH UHFRJQL]HG RI  DQG LQFUHDVHG RSHUDWLQJ DFWLYLWLHV WKHUHDIWHU 2SHUDWLQJ
DFWLYLWLHVKDYHJHQHUDOO\LQFUHDVHGVLQFHWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHURQFHWKH&RPSDQ\WUDQVLWLRQHGIURP
DWHFKQRORJ\GHYHORSPHQWSKDVHWRLQWHJUDWLRQODXQFKDQGFRQWLQXHGWHFKQRORJLFDODGYDQFHPHQWV)RUIXUWKHU
GHWDLOUHIHUWR³5HYLHZRI)LQDQFLDO5HVXOWV´

7KHLQFUHDVHLQWRWDODVVHWVDVRI'HFHPEHUFRPSDUHGWRWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHULVSULPDULO\
DWWULEXWDEOHWRWKHLQFUHDVHGEDODQFHRIFDVKDVDUHVXOWRIWKHFRQFXUUHQWILQDQFLQJRIWKH7UDQVDFWLRQ$VRI
'HFHPEHU   DQG  WKH DPRXQW QDWXUH DQG FRPSRVLWLRQ RI DVVHWV UHPDLQHG FRQVLVWHQW  5HIHU WR
³6WDWHPHQWRI)LQDQFLDO3RVLWLRQ,QIRUPDWLRQ´IRUIXUWKHUGHWDLO

5(9,(:2)),1$1&,$/5(68/76

5HVXOWVRI2SHUDWLRQV

5HYHQXH

8SWR1RYHPEHUUHYHQXHZDVHDUQHGE\9ROHR86$RQDSHUWUDGHEDVLV(IIHFWLYH'HFHPEHU
UHYHQXHLVJHQHUDWHGEDVHGRQPRQWKO\VXEVFULSWLRQIHHVDVDUHVXOWRILPSOHPHQWLQJ]HURFRPPLVVLRQWUDGLQJ
'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\UHFRUGHGUHYHQXHRI  WKH
LQFUHDVHLQZKLFKZDVDUHVXOWRILQFUHDVHGWUDGHVIURPDQLQFUHDVHGFXVWRPHUEDVH

([SHQVHV

'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\LQFXUUHGH[SHQVHVRI  
UHSUHVHQWLQJDQLQFUHDVHRIFRPSDUHGWRWKHSULRU\HDU








9ROHR7UDGLQJ6\VWHPV,QF
IRUPHUO\³/RJDQ5HVRXUFHV/WG´ 
0DQDJHPHQW¶V'LVFXVVLRQ $QDO\VLV
)RUWKH<HDU(QGHG'HFHPEHU
'DWH3UHSDUHG$SULO


'XULQJ WKH \HDU HQGHG 'HFHPEHU   WKH &RPSDQ\ LQFXUUHG SHUVRQQHO FRVWV LQFOXGLQJ FRQVXOWLQJ DQG
VDODULHVDQGEHQHILWVRI  7KHLQFUHDVHLQSHUVRQQHOFRVWVGXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG
'HFHPEHURILVGXHWRWKH&RPSDQ\DXJPHQWLQJLWVWHFKQLFDOWHDPDQGRWKHURUJDQL]DWLRQDO
FKDQJHV

0DUNHWLQJ DQG SXEOLF UHODWLRQV H[SHQVHV IRU WKH \HDU HQGHG 'HFHPEHU   WRWDOOHG   
 DQGLQFUHDVHGE\DVWKH&RPSDQ\IRFXVHGRQLWVPDUNHWLQJDQGEUDQGLQJVWUDWHJ\GLJLWDO
FXVWRPHU DFTXLVLWLRQ SDUWLFLSDWLRQ LQ *RRJOH¶V 'LJLWDO 6WUDWHJ\ 3URJUDP FRQIHUHQFH DWWHQGDQFH DQG
GHYHORSPHQWRIFRQWHQWIRUYDULRXVPHGLDFKDQQHOV

6KDUHEDVHGSD\PHQWVUHODWHWRWKHIDLUYDOXHRIHTXLW\LQVWUXPHQWVRYHUWKHUHVSHFWLYHYHVWLQJSHULRGV'XULQJ
WKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\UHFRUGHGVKDUHEDVHGSD\PHQWVRI  
DV D UHVXOW RI JUDQWLQJ VWRFN RSWLRQV VXEVHTXHQW WR FORVLQJ WKH 7UDQVDFWLRQ DQG REOLJDWLRQV WR LVVXH FRPPRQ
VKDUHVDQGUHVWULFWHGVKDUHXQLWVSXUVXDQWWRFRQVXOWLQJDJUHHPHQWV

7KH &RPSDQ\ LQFXUUHG SURIHVVLRQDO IHHV GXULQJ WKH \HDU HQGHG 'HFHPEHU   RI   
 ZKLFKUHODWHWRDFFRXQWLQJDXGLWWD[DQGOHJDOIHHVZLWKUHVSHFWWRWKH&RPSDQ\¶VVWUDWHJLFREMHFWLYHV
7KH LQFUHDVH LQ SURIHVVLRQDO IHHV IRU WKH \HDU HQGHG 'HFHPEHU   RI  LV H[SODLQHG E\ WKH
FRPSOHWLRQRIWKH7UDQVDFWLRQDQGWKHWUDQVLWLRQIURPDSULYDWHWRDSXEOLFFRPSDQ\

'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\LQFXUUHGWUDYHOFRVWVRI  ZKLFK
SULPDULO\UHODWHGWRWKHDGYDQFHPHQWRIFRPPHUFLDOL]DWLRQDQGOLFHQVLQJHIIRUWVLQFOXGLQJDWWHQGLQJWKH)LGHOLW\
,QIRUPDWLRQ 6HUYLFHV )LQWHFK $FFHOHUDWRU 3URJUDP DQG YDULRXV ILQWHFK FRQIHUHQFHV  'XULQJ WKH \HDU HQGHG
'HFHPEHUWUDYHOFRVWVDOVRUHODWHGWRWKHDGYDQFHPHQWRIWKH7UDQVDFWLRQ

,Q FRQQHFWLRQ ZLWK 9ROHR 86$¶V EURNHUGHDOHU RSHUDWLRQV GXULQJ WKH \HDU HQGHG 'HFHPEHU   WKH
&RPSDQ\ LQFXUUHG FOHDULQJ DQG H[HFXWLRQ H[SHQVHV RI      UHSUHVHQWLQJ DQ LQFUHDVH RI
7KHLQFUHDVHLQWKHH[SHQVHVRIWKHEURNHUGHDOHURSHUDWLRQVLVH[SODLQHGE\PLQLPXPPRQWKO\FOHDULQJ
SD\PHQWVRI86ZKLFKEHFDPHHIIHFWLYHRQ-XO\5HIHUWR³&RPPLWPHQWV´

&RPSXWHUDQGVRIWZDUHH[SHQVHVLQFUHDVHGE\GXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUFRPSDUHGWR
WKHSUHYLRXV\HDUGXHWRFKDQJHVLQVHUYLFHSURYLGHUVDQGDSSOLFDWLRQUHTXLUHPHQWV

5HJXODWRU\DQGFRPSOLDQFHLQFOXGHFRVWVDVVRFLDWHGZLWKPDLQWDLQLQJDSXEOLFFRPSDQ\LQDGGLWLRQWR9ROHR86$¶V
EURNHUGHDOHU RSHUDWLRQV  'XULQJ WKH \HDU HQGHG 'HFHPEHU   WKH &RPSDQ\ LQFXUUHG UHJXODWRU\ DQG
FRPSOLDQFHFRVWVRI  7KHLQFUHDVHLQUHJXODWRU\DQGFRPSOLDQFHFRVWVRILV
H[SODLQHGE\WKHWUDQVLWLRQIURPDSULYDWHWRDSXEOLFFRPSDQ\HIIHFWLYH0D\DQGVXFFHVVIXOO\OLVWLQJRQ
WKH27&4%HIIHFWLYH'HFHPEHU

7KH&RPSDQ\LQFXUUHGRIILFHDQGPLVFHOODQHRXVH[SHQVHVRI  GXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG
'HFHPEHUWKHLQFUHDVHLQZKLFKLVGLUHFWO\DWWULEXWDEOHWRDGGLWLRQDOLQVXUDQFHFRYHUDJHREWDLQHGLQ
FRQQHFWLRQZLWKFORVLQJWKH7UDQVDFWLRQDQGLQFUHDVHGRYHUDOOFRUSRUDWHDFWLYLWLHV

2WKHULWHPV

'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\UHFRUGHGDQRQFDVKOLVWLQJH[SHQVHRI
QLO DVDUHVXOWRIFORVLQJWKH7UDQVDFWLRQRQ0D\5HIHUWR³5HYHUVH7DNHRYHU7UDQVDFWLRQ´

7KH&RPSDQ\UHFRUGHGDORVVRQIRUJLYHQHVVRIDSURPLVVRU\QRWHRIGXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU
DVDUHVXOWRIH[HFXWLQJDGHEWVHWWOHPHQWDQGUHOHDVHDJUHHPHQW5HIHUWR³6WDWHPHQWRI)LQDQFLDO
3RVLWLRQ,QIRUPDWLRQ´








9ROHR7UDGLQJ6\VWHPV,QF
IRUPHUO\³/RJDQ5HVRXUFHV/WG´ 
0DQDJHPHQW¶V'LVFXVVLRQ $QDO\VLV
)RUWKH<HDU(QGHG'HFHPEHU
'DWH3UHSDUHG$SULO


'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\UHFRJQL]HGDQLPSDLUPHQWORVVRIZLWKUHVSHFW
WRFRPPRQVKDUHVKHOGRI.5HVRXUFHV,QF ³.´ EDVHGRQDQDVVHVVPHQWRIPDUNHWFRQGLWLRQVDQGOLTXLGLW\
ULVN5HIHUWR³6WDWHPHQWRI)LQDQFLDO3RVLWLRQ,QIRUPDWLRQ´IRUDGGLWLRQDOGHWDLORIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VLQYHVWPHQWLQ
.

,QWHUHVWLQFRPHIRUWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHURIUHODWHVWRLQWHUHVWLQFRPHHDUQHGRQH[FHVV
FDVKRQKDQGDQGLVDIXQFWLRQRIDYHUDJHFDVKDQGFDVKHTXLYDOHQWEDODQFHVGXULQJWKH\HDU'XULQJWKH\HDU
HQGHG'HFHPEHULQWHUHVWLQFRPHRISULPDULO\UHODWHGWRLQWHUHVWDFFUXHGRQDSURPLVVRU\QRWH
UHFHLYDEOH

6800$5<2)48$57(5/<5(68/76

4
4
4
4
'HFHPEHU
-XQH
0DUFK
6HSWHPEHU




'HVFULSWLRQ







5HYHQXH




/RVVIRUWKHSHULRG


 

/RVVSHUVKDUH
EDVLFDQGGLOXWHG 


 

4
4
4
4
-XQH
0DUFK
'HFHPEHU
6HSWHPEHU




'HVFULSWLRQ







5HYHQXH




/RVVIRUWKHSHULRG


 

/RVVSHUVKDUH
EDVLFDQGGLOXWHG 


 


+LVWRULFDO TXDUWHUO\ UHVXOWV RI RSHUDWLRQV DQG ORVV SHU VKDUH GDWD GR QRW QHFHVVDULO\ UHIOHFW DQ\ UHFXUULQJ
H[SHQGLWXUHSDWWHUQVRUSUHGLFWDEOHWUHQGV7KH&RPSDQ\¶VH[SHQGLWXUHVDUHGULYHQE\WKHDYDLODELOLW\RIILQDQFLQJ
WRIXQGFRQWLQXHGRSHUDWLRQV4XDUWHUO\UHYHQXHKDVJHQHUDOO\LQFUHDVHGDVWKHQXPEHURIWUDGHVDQGFXVWRPHUV
KDYH LQFUHDVHG  $V SUHYLRXVO\ GLVFXVVHG HIIHFWLYH 'HFHPEHU   WKH &RPSDQ\ LPSOHPHQWHG ]HUR
FRPPLVVLRQWUDGLQJDQGFKDUJHVPRQWKO\VXEVFULSWLRQIHHVRQDJRLQJIRUZDUGEDVLV)XWXUHUHYHQXHJHQHUDWHG
RQDVXEVFULSWLRQEDVLVZLOOGHSHQGRQIDFWRUVEH\RQGWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQWUROVXFKDVWKHFRPSRVLWLRQRIWHDPV
DQGRYHUDOOWUDGLQJYROXPHV/RVVIRUHDFKSHULRGUHPDLQHGFRQVLVWHQWXSWRWKHTXDUWHUHQGHG0DUFK
DV WKH &RPSDQ\ IRFXVHG RQ DGYDQFLQJ ERWK WKH 7UDQVDFWLRQ DQG WKH &RPSDQ\¶V WHFKQRORJ\ SODWIRUPV  7KH
7UDQVDFWLRQFORVHGGXULQJWKHTXDUWHUHQGHG-XQHZKLFKH[SODLQVWKHLQFUHDVHGORVVIRUWKDWSHULRGDQG
WKH SHULRGV WKHUHDIWHU  5HIHU WR ³5HYHUVH 7DNHRYHU 7UDQVDFWLRQ´ DQG ³5HVXOWV RI 2SHUDWLRQV´ IRU DGGLWLRQDO
GLVFXVVLRQ








9ROHR7UDGLQJ6\VWHPV,QF
IRUPHUO\³/RJDQ5HVRXUFHV/WG´ 
0DQDJHPHQW¶V'LVFXVVLRQ $QDO\VLV
)RUWKH<HDU(QGHG'HFHPEHU
'DWH3UHSDUHG$SULO
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5HYHQXH

'XULQJWKHWKUHHPRQWKSHULRGVHQGHG'HFHPEHUDQGWKH&RPSDQ\UHFRUGHGUHYHQXHRI
DQGUHVSHFWLYHO\7KHLQFUHDVHLQUHYHQXHRIIRUWKHWKUHHPRQWKSHULRGHQGHG'HFHPEHU
FRPSDUHGWRWKHVDPHSHULRGRIWKHSULRU\HDUZDVDUHVXOWRILQFUHDVHGWUDGHVIURPDQLQFUHDVHGFXVWRPHUEDVH

([SHQVHV

'XULQJWKHWKUHHPRQWKSHULRGHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\LQFXUUHGH[SHQVHVRI 
 UHSUHVHQWLQJDQLQFUHDVHRIFRPSDUHGWRWKHVDPHSHULRGRIWKHSULRU\HDU7KHLQFUHDVHLQ
WRWDO H[SHQVHV LV FRPSULVHG RI LQFUHDVHV LQ PDUNHWLQJ DQG LQYHVWRU UHODWLRQV H[SHQVHV   DV WKH
&RPSDQ\ FRQWLQXHG WR IRFXV RQ LWV PDUNHWLQJ VWUDWHJ\ DQG FRQWHQW GHYHORSPHQW  JHQHUDO DQG DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ
H[SHQVHV   GXH WR LQFUHDVHG RYHUDOO FRUSRUDWH DFWLYLWLHV UHVHDUFK DQG GHYHORSPHQW   LQ
FRQQHFWLRQZLWKWHFKQRORJLFDODGYDQFHPHQWVDQGFOHDULQJH[HFXWLRQDQGEURNHUGHDOHUUHODWHGFRVWV  
DVDUHVXOWRIWKHFRPPHQFHPHQWRIPLQLPXPPRQWKO\FOHDULQJSD\PHQWV7KHVHLQFUHDVHVLQH[SHQVHVZHUH
SDUWLDOO\RIIVHWE\DGHFUHDVHLQFRPPHUFLDOL]DWLRQDQGOLFHQVLQJH[SHQVHV  FDXVHGE\DUHFRYHU\RIQRQ
FDVKVKDUHEDVHGSD\PHQWH[SHQVHV

2WKHULWHPV

'XULQJ WKH WKUHH PRQWK SHULRG HQGHG 'HFHPEHU   WKH &RPSDQ\ UHFRJQL]HG DQ LPSDLUPHQW ORVV RI
ZLWKUHVSHFWWRFRPPRQVKDUHVKHOGRI.DVGHWDLOHGLQ³5HYLHZRI)LQDQFLDO5HVXOWV´DQG³6WDWHPHQW
RI)LQDQFLDO3RVLWLRQ,QIRUPDWLRQ´

,QWHUHVWLQFRPHIRUWKHWKUHHPRQWKSHULRGHQGHG'HFHPEHURIUHODWHVWRLQWHUHVWLQFRPHHDUQHG
RQH[FHVVFDVKRQKDQGDQGLVDIXQFWLRQRIDYHUDJHFDVKDQGFDVKHTXLYDOHQWEDODQFHVGXULQJWKHSHULRG'XULQJ
WKHWKUHHPRQWKSHULRGHQGHG'HFHPEHULQWHUHVWLQFRPHRISULPDULO\UHODWHGWRLQWHUHVWDFFUXHG
RQDSURPLVVRU\QRWHUHFHLYDEOH

/,48,',7<$1'&$3,7$/5(6285&(6

$V DW 'HFHPEHU   WKH &RPSDQ\ KDG FDVK RI      DQG ZRUNLQJ FDSLWDO RI
  7KHLQFUHDVHLQZRUNLQJFDSLWDORILVDUHVXOWRIWKH&RPSDQ\FORVLQJWKH
7UDQVDFWLRQDQGWKHFRQFXUUHQWILQDQFLQJQHWRIRSHUDWLRQV

$WSUHVHQWWKH&RPSDQ\KDVQRPDWHULDORSHUDWLQJLQFRPHRUFDVKIORZV7KH&RPSDQ\LQWHQGVWRILQDQFHLWV
IXWXUHUHTXLUHPHQWVWKURXJKHTXLW\LVVXDQFHVRUWKHVDOHRIDVVHWV7KHUHLVQRDVVXUDQFHWKDWWKH&RPSDQ\ZLOO
EHDEOHWRREWDLQVXFKILQDQFLQJVRUREWDLQWKHPRQIDYRUDEOHWHUPV6HH³5LVN)DFWRUV´

2SHUDWLQJFRVWVDUHSURMHFWHGDWDSSUR[LPDWHO\PLOOLRQRYHUWKHQH[WWZHOYHPRQWKVLQFOXGLQJSHUVRQQHO 
PLOOLRQ  DSSOLFDWLRQ GHYHORSPHQW DQG PDLQWHQDQFH  PLOOLRQ  EURNHU GHDOHU RSHUDWLRQV  PLOOLRQ  DQG
RWKHUFRUSRUDWHDQGUHJXODWRU\FRVWV PLOOLRQ 7KH&RPSDQ\FRQWLQXHVWREHYLJLODQWLQRQJRLQJH[SHQVH
PDQDJHPHQW

'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\FRPSOHWHGHTXLW\ILQDQFLQJIRUWRWDOJURVVSURFHHGVLQ
WKH DPRXQW RI   :LWK WKH DGGLWLRQDO ILQDQFLQJ WKH&RPSDQ\ ZLOOFRQWLQXH WR GHYHORS DQGUHILQH LWV
WHFKQRORJ\SODWIRUPVVHHNRSSRUWXQLWLHVIRUFRPPHUFLDOL]DWLRQDFTXLUHXVHUVHYDOXDWHVWUDWHJLFRSSRUWXQLWLHV
FRPSO\ ZLWK H[LVWLQJ FRPPLWPHQWV DQG SD\ IRU DGPLQLVWUDWLYH RYHUKHDG H[SHQGLWXUHV DQG ZRUNLQJ FDSLWDO
SXUSRVHV








9ROHR7UDGLQJ6\VWHPV,QF
IRUPHUO\³/RJDQ5HVRXUFHV/WG´ 
0DQDJHPHQW¶V'LVFXVVLRQ $QDO\VLV
)RUWKH<HDU(QGHG'HFHPEHU
'DWH3UHSDUHG$SULO


9ROHR86$LVVXEMHFWWRWKH6(&¶V8QLIRUP1HW&DSLWDO5XOHF WKH³5XOH´ ZKLFKUHTXLUHVWKHPDLQWHQDQFH
RIPLQLPXPQHWFDSLWDODQGUHTXLUHVWKDWWKHUDWLRRIDJJUHJDWHLQGHEWHGQHVVWRQHWFDSLWDODVERWKGHILQHGVKDOO
QRWH[FHHGWR,QDFFRUGDQFHZLWKWKH5XOH9ROHR86$LVUHTXLUHGWRPDLQWDLQGHILQHGPLQLPXPQHWFDSLWDO
HTXDOWRWKHJUHDWHURI86RUWKRIDJJUHJDWHLQGHEWHGQHVV$VDW'HFHPEHU9ROHR86$
H[FHHGHGWKHPLQLPXPQHWFDSLWDOUHTXLUHPHQW

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VFDVKIORZVIRUWKH\HDUVHQGHG'HFHPEHUDQGDUHVXPPDUL]HGEHORZ


'HFHPEHU
'HFHPEHU
&DVKXVHGLQRSHUDWLQJDFWLYLWLHV

 

&DVKXVHGLQLQYHVWLQJDFWLYLWLHV


&DVKSURYLGHGE\ILQDQFLQJDFWLYLWLHV


&KDQJHLQFDVKGXULQJWKH\HDU


(IIHFWRIIRUHLJQH[FKDQJHRQFDVK


&DVKEHJLQQLQJRIWKH\HDU


&DVKHQGRIWKH\HDU

 


2SHUDWLQJ$FWLYLWLHV

&DVKXVHGLQRSHUDWLQJDFWLYLWLHVDGMXVWVORVVIRUWKH\HDUIRUQRQFDVKLWHPVLQFOXGLQJEXWQRWOLPLWHGWRWKHOLVWLQJ
H[SHQVH RI WKH 7UDQVDFWLRQ VKDUHEDVHG SD\PHQWV DFFUXHG LQWHUHVW LQFRPH FHUWDLQ JDLQV DQG ORVVHV DQG
GHSUHFLDWLRQ&DVKXVHGLQRSHUDWLQJDFWLYLWLHVDOVRUHIOHFWVFKDQJHVLQZRUNLQJFDSLWDOLWHPVVXFKDVDPRXQWV
UHFHLYDEOH SUHSDLG H[SHQVHV GHSRVLWV DQG DPRXQWV SD\DEOH ZKLFK IOXFWXDWH LQ D PDQQHU WKDW GRHV QRW
QHFHVVDULO\UHIOHFWSUHGLFWDEOHSDWWHUQVIRUWKHRYHUDOOXVHRIFDVKWKHJHQHUDWLRQRIZKLFKGHSHQGVDOPRVWHQWLUHO\
RQVRXUFHVRIH[WHUQDOILQDQFLQJWRIXQGRSHUDWLRQV

,QYHVWLQJ$FWLYLWLHV

'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\SXUFKDVHGFRPSXWHUHTXLSPHQWWRWDOOLQJZKLFK
ZDVSDUWLDOO\RIIVHWE\FDVKDFTXLUHGLQWKH7UDQVDFWLRQRIIRUQHWFDVKXVHGLQLQYHVWLQJDFWLYLWLHVRI

7KHUHZDVQRFDVKSURYLGHGE\RUXVHGLQLQYHVWLQJDFWLYLWLHVGXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

)LQDQFLQJ$FWLYLWLHV

&DVKSURYLGHGE\ILQDQFLQJDFWLYLWLHVGXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUDPRXQWHGWRDQG
UHODWHGWRFRPPRQVKDUHVLVVXHGIRUJURVVSURFHHGVRIVKDUHVXEVFULSWLRQVUHFHLYHGRIDQG
FRQVLGHUDWLRQUHFHLYHGRQWKHVHWWOHPHQWRIDSURPLVVRU\QRWHRIQHWRIVKDUHLVVXHFRVWVSDLGRI

&DVKSURYLGHGE\ILQDQFLQJDFWLYLWLHVGXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUDPRXQWHGWRDQG
UHODWHGWRFRPPRQVKDUHVLVVXHGIRUJURVVSURFHHGVRIQHWRIVKDUHLVVXHFRVWVSDLGRI
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67$7(0(172)),1$1&,$/326,7,21,1)250$7,21



&DVK
$PRXQWVUHFHLYDEOH
3UHSDLGH[SHQVHV
3URPLVVRU\QRWHUHFHLYDEOH
,QYHVWPHQW
'HSRVLWV
(TXLSPHQW
7RWDO$VVHWV

$FFRXQWVSD\DEOHDQGDFFUXHGOLDELOLWLHV
2EOLJDWLRQWRLVVXHFRPPRQVKDUHV
6KDUHFDSLWDO
2WKHUHTXLW\UHVHUYHV
$FFXPXODWHGRWKHUFRPSUHKHQVLYHLQFRPH
'HILFLW
7RWDO/LDELOLWLHVDQG6KDUHKROGHUV¶(TXLW\

$VDW
'HFHPEHU





















 


$VDW
'HFHPEHU

























$VVHWV

&DVKLQFUHDVHGE\GXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUDVGHVFULEHGLQGHWDLOLQ³/LTXLGLW\DQG
&DSLWDO5HVRXUFHV´

7KHEDODQFHRIDPRXQWVUHFHLYDEOHLQFUHDVHGE\DVDW'HFHPEHUFRPSDUHGWRDVDW'HFHPEHU
ZKLFKLVH[SODLQHGE\LQFUHDVHG*RRGVDQG6HUYLFHV7D[LQSXWWD[FUHGLWVSDLGRQLQFUHDVHGFRUSRUDWH
DFWLYLWLHVGXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUSUHSDLGH[SHQVHVLQFUHDVHGE\GXHWRSUHSD\PHQWVIRU
FRQWUDFWVUHODWHGWRPDUNHWLQJDQGLQYHVWRUUHODWLRQVDQGDQQXDOLQVXUDQFHSUHPLXPVDQGUHJXODWRU\FRPSOLDQFH
SDLG7KHVHLQFUHDVHVZHUHSDUWLDOO\RIIVHWE\WKHDSSOLFDWLRQRIGHIHUUHGWUDQVDFWLRQFRVWVWRSURFHHGVUHFHLYHG
ZLWKUHVSHFWWRWKH7UDQVDFWLRQDQGWKHDPRUWL]DWLRQRIRWKHUSUHSDLGH[SHQVHV

2Q)HEUXDU\WKH&RPSDQ\H[HFXWHGDSURPLVVRU\QRWHLQWKHDPRXQWRIZKLFKZDVUHFHLYDEOH
IURPDFRPSDQ\FRQWUROOHGE\0U7KRPDV%HDWWLH&KLHI&RPSOLDQFH2IILFHU WKH³&&2´  WKH³3URPLVVRU\1RWH´ 
DQGSHUVRQDOO\JXDUDQWHHGE\WKH&&2'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\DQGWKH&&2
HQWHUHGLQWRDGHEWVHWWOHPHQWDQGUHOHDVHDJUHHPHQWSXUVXDQWWRZKLFKWKH3URPLVVRU\1RWHZDVH[WLQJXLVKHG
IRUFDVKFRQVLGHUDWLRQLQWKHDPRXQWRI$VDUHVXOWWKH&RPSDQ\UHFRUGHGDORVVRQIRUJLYHQHVVRI
ZKLFKLQFOXGHGWKHSULQFLSDOEDODQFHRIWKH3URPLVVRU\1RWHRIDQGDFFUXHGLQWHUHVWRIQHWRI
FDVKFRQVLGHUDWLRQUHFHLYHGIURPWKH&&2RI

$VDW'HFHPEHUWKHEDODQFHRIWKHLQYHVWPHQWLQFOXGHVFRPPRQVKDUHVKHOGRI.5HVRXUFHV
,QF ZLWK D FDUU\LQJ YDOXH RI  7KH &RPSDQ\ DFTXLUHG  FRPPRQ VKDUHV RI . SXUVXDQW WR WKH
7UDQVDFWLRQDQGFRPPRQVKDUHVRI.DVFRQVLGHUDWLRQIRUWKHVDOHRIPLQHUDOFODLPVGXULQJWKH\HDU
HQGHG'HFHPEHU7KH&RPSDQ\DOVRUHFRJQL]HGDQLPSDLUPHQWORVVRIZLWKUHVSHFWWRWKH
LQYHVWPHQWEDVHGRQDQDVVHVVPHQWRIPDUNHWFRQGLWLRQVDQGOLTXLGLW\ULVN
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$VDW'HFHPEHUWKHEDODQFHRIGHSRVLWVLQFOXGHVDPLQLPXPGHSRVLWDFFRXQW WKH³'HSRVLW$FFRXQW´ 
RI  SXUVXDQWWRDIXOO\GLVFORVHGFOHDULQJDJUHHPHQW WKH³&OHDULQJ$JUHHPHQW´ EHWZHHQ
$SH[&OHDULQJ&RUSRUDWLRQ ³$SH[´ DQG9ROHR86$'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\
GHSRVLWHGDQDGGLWLRQDOQHWRIWUDQVDFWLRQVIHHVGHGXFWHGRIHDUQHGLQWHUHVWLQFRPHRIDQG
UHFRUGHGDQXQUHDOL]HGIRUHLJQH[FKDQJHORVVRILQFRQQHFWLRQZLWKWKH'HSRVLW$FFRXQW'HSRVLWVDOVR
LQFOXGH QLO ZLWKUHVSHFWWRVHFXULW\IRUDFRUSRUDWHFUHGLWFDUGZKLFKZDVDFTXLUHGSXUVXDQWWRWKH
7UDQVDFWLRQGXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU)RUDGGLWLRQDOGHWDLOVRIWKH&OHDULQJ$JUHHPHQWDQGWKH
'HSRVLW$FFRXQWUHIHUWR³&RPPLWPHQWV´

$V DW 'HFHPEHU   WKH &RPSDQ\¶V HTXLSPHQW KDG D QHW ERRN YDOXH RI       7KH
LQFUHDVHRILVGXHWRHTXLSPHQWSXUFKDVHVRIQHWRIGHSUHFLDWLRQUHFRUGHGRIGXULQJWKH
\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

/LDELOLWLHV

$FFRXQWVSD\DEOHDQGDFFUXHGOLDELOLWLHVLQFUHDVHGE\GXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUGXH
WR LQFUHDVHG FRUSRUDWH DFWLYLWLHV VXEVHTXHQW WR FORVLQJ WKH 7UDQVDFWLRQ DQG WKH WLPLQJ RI SD\PHQWV WR DQG
VHWWOHPHQWZLWKWKLUGSDUWLHV

$VDW'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\UHFHLYHGVKDUHVXEVFULSWLRQVRI86   QLO IRU
ZKLFK FRPPRQ VKDUHV KDG QRW \HW EHHQ LVVXHG  7KH DPRXQW UHFHLYHG UHODWHV WR DQ DJUHHPHQW ZLWK )LGHOLW\
,QIRUPDWLRQ6HUYLFHV//&IRUWKHULJKWWRSXUFKDVHFRPPRQVKDUHVRIWKH&RPSDQ\5HIHUWR³&RPPLWPHQWV´
DQG³6XEVHTXHQW(YHQWV´

6KDUHKROGHUV¶(TXLW\

'XULQJ WKH \HDU HQGHG 'HFHPEHU   WKH EDODQFH RI VKDUH FDSLWDO LQFUHDVHG E\  ZKLFK LV
H[SODLQHGE\WKHLVVXDQFHRIFRPPRQVKDUHVIRUJURVVSURFHHGVRIDQGSXUVXDQWWRWKH7UDQVDFWLRQ
RI  QHW RI VKDUH LVVXH FRVWV RI   5HIHU WR ³6KDUH &DSLWDO´ DQG ³5HYHUVH 7DNHRYHU
7UDQVDFWLRQ´

2WKHUHTXLW\UHVHUYHVLQFUHDVHGE\GXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUZKLFKLVDWWULEXWDEOHWR
WKH IDLU YDOXH RI HTXLW\ LQVWUXPHQWV LVVXHG WR DJHQWV RI  VKDUHEDVHG SD\PHQW H[SHQVH UHFRUGHG RI
DQGWKHLPSDFWRIWKH7UDQVDFWLRQRI

'HILFLWLQFUHDVHGE\WKHORVVIRUWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHULQWKHDPRXQWRI

'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUDFFXPXODWHGRWKHUFRPSUHKHQVLYHLQFRPHGHFUHDVHGE\DV
DUHVXOWRIIRUHLJQFXUUHQF\WUDQVODWLRQDGMXVWPHQWVZLWKUHVSHFWWR9ROHR86$

6+$5(&$3,7$/

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VDXWKRUL]HGFDSLWDOFRQVLVWVRIDQXQOLPLWHGQXPEHURIFRPPRQVKDUHVZLWKRXWSDUYDOXH

7KH&RPSDQ\KDVVHFXULWLHVRXWVWDQGLQJDVIROORZV

6HFXULW\'HVFULSWLRQ
'HFHPEHU
'DWHRIUHSRUW

&RPPRQVKDUHV


:DUUDQWV


6WRFNRSWLRQV


&RPSHQVDWLRQRSWLRQV


)XOO\GLOXWHGVKDUHV
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7KH&RPSDQ\LVVXHGWKHIROORZLQJFRPPRQVKDUHVGXULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\LVVXHGXQLWVIRUJURVVSURFHHGVRI
(DFKXQLWFRQVLVWVRIRQHFRPPRQVKDUHDQGRQHKDOIRIRQHZDUUDQWZDUUDQWVZHUHLVVXHGZLWKDQ
H[HUFLVHSULFHRIDQGH[SLU\RI$SULO7KH&RPSDQ\LQFXUUHGVKDUHLVVXHFRVWVLQWKHDPRXQWRI
7KH&RPSDQ\DOVRLVVXHGXQLWVWRDJHQWV(DFKXQLWLVVXHGWRWKHDJHQWVFRQVLVWVRIRQHFRPPRQ
VKDUHDQGRQHZDUUDQWZLWKDQH[HUFLVHSULFHRIDQGH[SLU\RI$SULO7KHFRPPRQVKDUHVDQG
ZDUUDQWVLVVXHGWRWKHDJHQWVKDGIDLUYDOXHVRIDQGUHVSHFWLYHO\ZKLFKZHUHUHFRUGHGDVVKDUH
LVVXHFRVWV

'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\FORVHGDSURVSHFWXVRIIHULQJLQFRQQHFWLRQZLWKWKH
7UDQVDFWLRQDQGLVVXHGXQLWVIRUJURVVSURFHHGVRI(DFKXQLWFRQVLVWVRIRQHFRPPRQ
VKDUHDQGRQHKDOIRIRQHZDUUDQWZDUUDQWVZHUHLVVXHGZLWKDQH[HUFLVHSULFHRIDQGH[SLU\RI
$SULO,QFRQQHFWLRQZLWKWKHSURVSHFWXVRIIHULQJWKH&RPSDQ\LQFXUUHGVKDUHLVVXHFRVWVLQWKHDPRXQW
RIRIZKLFKLVLQFOXGHGLQDFFRXQWVSD\DEOHDQGDFFUXHGOLDELOLWLHVDVRI'HFHPEHU
7KH&RPSDQ\DOVRLVVXHGWRDJHQWV L XQLWVWRDJHQWVZLWKHDFKXQLWFRQVLVWLQJRIRQHFRPPRQVKDUH
DQG RQHKDOI RI RQH ZDUUDQW ZLWK DQ H[HUFLVH SULFH RI  DQG H[SLU\ RI $SULO   DQG LL  
FRPSHQVDWLRQRSWLRQVZLWKDQH[HUFLVHSULFHRIDQGH[SLU\RI$SULO7KHFRPPRQVKDUHVZDUUDQWV
DQGFRPSHQVDWLRQRSWLRQVLVVXHGWRDJHQWVKDGIDLUYDOXHVRIDQGUHVSHFWLYHO\DQG
ZHUHUHFRUGHGDVVKDUHLVVXHFRVWV

86(2)352&(('6

2Q 0D\   WKH &RPSDQ\ FORVHG D SURVSHFWXV RIIHULQJ LQ FRQQHFWLRQ ZLWK WKH 7UDQVDFWLRQ DQG LVVXHG
XQLWVIRUJURVVSURFHHGVRI(DFKXQLWFRQVLVWVRIRQHVKDUHDQGRQHKDOIRIRQHZDUUDQW
$VDW'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\KDVXVHGWKHSURFHHGVDVIROORZV


,QLWLDO(VWLPDWHG

$FWXDO
$FWLYLW\
8VHRI3URFHHGV
8VHRI3URFHHGV


0DUNHWLQJDQGFXVWRPHUDFTXLVLWLRQ

 

7HFKQLFDOGHYHORSPHQW


5HJXODWRU\DQGLQWHUQDWLRQDOSDUWQHUVKLSV


*HQHUDODQGDGPLQLVWUDWLYHH[SHQVHV


7UDQVDFWLRQFRVWV


8QDOORFDWHGZRUNLQJFDSLWDO





 


7KHDFWXDOXVHRISURFHHGVVXPPDUL]HGDERYHUHIOHFWVDFWLYLWLHVVXEVHTXHQWWRWKHFORVLQJRIWKH7UDQVDFWLRQRQ
DFDVKEDVLV7KHDFWXDOXVHRISURFHHGVWRGDWHLVQRWQHFHVVDULO\UHSUHVHQWDWLYHRIWKHDOORFDWLRQRIWRWDOH[SHFWHG
XVHRISURFHHGV

5(/$7('3$57<75$16$&7,216

5HODWHGSDUWLHVDQGUHODWHGSDUW\WUDQVDFWLRQVLPSDFWLQJWKHDFFRPSDQ\LQJFRQVROLGDWHGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDUH
VXPPDUL]HGEHORZDQGLQFOXGHWUDQVDFWLRQVZLWKWKHIROORZLQJLQGLYLGXDOVRUHQWLWLHV

.H\PDQDJHPHQWSHUVRQQHO

.H\PDQDJHPHQWSHUVRQQHOLQFOXGHWKRVHSHUVRQVKDYLQJDXWKRULW\DQGUHVSRQVLELOLW\IRUSODQQLQJGLUHFWLQJDQG
FRQWUROOLQJWKHDFWLYLWLHVRIWKH&RPSDQ\DVDZKROH7KH&RPSDQ\KDVGHWHUPLQHGWKDWNH\PDQDJHPHQWSHUVRQQHO
FRQVLVWV RI H[HFXWLYH DQG QRQH[HFXWLYH PHPEHUV RI WKH &RPSDQ\¶V %RDUG RI 'LUHFWRUV DQG FRUSRUDWH RIILFHUV
LQFOXGLQJWKH&RPSDQ\¶V&KLHI([HFXWLYH2IILFHU&KLHI&RPSOLDQFH2IILFHUDQG&KLHI)LQDQFLDO2IILFHU
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5HPXQHUDWLRQDWWULEXWHGWRNH\PDQDJHPHQWSHUVRQQHOIRUWKH\HDUVHQGHG'HFHPEHUDQGFDQEH
VXPPDUL]HGDVIROORZV



'HFHPEHU

'HFHPEHU




6KRUWWHUPEHQHILWV  




6KDUHEDVHGSD\PHQWV











  ,QFOXGHVEDVHVDODULHVSXUVXDQWWRFRQWUDFWXDOHPSOR\PHQWRUFRQVXOWDQF\DUUDQJHPHQWV
x 0RPHQWXP9HQWXUHV,QFDFRPSDQ\FRQWUROOHGE\0U7KRPDV%HDWWLH&&2RIWKH&RPSDQ\
6KDUH5HVXOWV,QFDFRPSDQ\FRQWUROOHGE\0V1LFN\6HQ\DUGDIRUPHUGLUHFWRURIWKH
&RPSDQ\.LQJ %D\:HVW
x 0RPHQWXP9HQWXUHV,QF.LQJ %D\:HVW

2WKHUUHODWHGSDUW\WUDQVDFWLRQV

7UDQVDFWLRQVHQWHUHGLQWRZLWKUHODWHGSDUWLHVRWKHUWKDQNH\PDQDJHPHQWSHUVRQQHODQGQRWRWKHUZLVHGLVFORVHG
LQFOXGHWKHIROORZLQJ



'HFHPEHU

'HFHPEHU




.LQJ %D\:HVW0DQDJHPHQW&RUS

 

6HFXULWLHV/DZ86$3&







 


.LQJ %D\:HVW0DQDJHPHQW&RUS ³.LQJ %D\:HVW´ .LQJ %D\:HVWLVDQHQWLW\WKDWLVFRQWUROOHGE\0U
0DUN0RUDELWR([HFXWLYH&KDLUPDQRIWKH&RPSDQ\DQGHPSOR\VRUUHWDLQVRIILFHUVDQGFHUWDLQFRQVXOWDQWVRI
WKH&RPSDQ\.LQJ %D\:HVWSURYLGHVDGPLQLVWUDWLYHUHJXODWRU\OHJDOILQDQFHDQGFRUSRUDWHGHYHORSPHQW
VHUYLFHVWRWKH&RPSDQ\7KHDPRXQWVVKRZQLQWKHWDEOHDERYHUHSUHVHQWDPRXQWVSDLGWR.LQJ %D\:HVWIRU
WKHVHUYLFHVRI.LQJ %D\:HVWSHUVRQQHODQGIRURYHUKHDGDQGWKLUGSDUW\FRVWVLQFXUUHGE\.LQJ %D\:HVW
RQEHKDOIRIWKH&RPSDQ\7KHIHHVIRUVXFKVHUYLFHVZHUHPDGHRQWHUPVHTXLYDOHQWWRWKRVHWKDW.LQJ %D\
:HVWFKDUJHVWRDUP¶VOHQJWKSDUWLHV

.HZSDF ,QYHVWPHQWV ,QF ³.HZSDF´   .HZSDF LV DQ HQWLW\ WKDW LV FRQWUROOHG E\ 0V 1LFN\ 6HQ\DUG D IRUPHU
GLUHFWRURIWKH&RPSDQ\DQGSURYLGHVFRUSRUDWHDGYLVRU\VHUYLFHVZLWKUHVSHFWWRFRPPHUFLDOL]LQJDQGOLFHQVLQJ
7KHIHHVIRUVXFKVHUYLFHVZHUHPDGHRQWHUPVHTXLYDOHQWWRWKRVHWKDW.HZSDFFKDUJHVWRDUP¶VOHQJWKSDUWLHV
5HIHUWR³&RPPLWPHQWV´

6HFXULWLHV/DZ86$3&6HFXULWLHV/DZ86$3&LVDODZILUPWKDWLVFRQWUROOHGE\0U%UDG:LJJLQVDGLUHFWRURI
WKH&RPSDQ\DQGSURYLGHVUHJXODWRU\DQGOHJDOVHUYLFHVWRWKH&RPSDQ\7KHIHHVIRUVXFKVHUYLFHVZHUHPDGH
RQWHUPVHTXLYDOHQWWRWKRVHWKDW6HFXULWLHV/DZ86$3&FKDUJHVWRDUP¶VOHQJWKSDUWLHV

7UDQVDFWLRQVZLWKUHODWHGSDUWLHVZHUHLQWKHQRUPDOFRXUVHRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGZHUHPHDVXUHGDWWKHH[FKDQJH
DPRXQWZKLFKLVWKHDPRXQWRIFRQVLGHUDWLRQHVWDEOLVKHGDQGDJUHHGE\WKHUHODWHGSDUWLHV
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5HODWHGSDUW\EDODQFHV

$FFRXQWVSD\DEOHDQGDFFUXHGOLDELOLWLHV

$VDW'HFHPEHUDFFRXQWVSD\DEOHDQGDFFUXHGOLDELOLWLHVLQFOXGHWKHIROORZLQJDPRXQWVGXHWRUHODWHG
SDUWLHV

x 0U7KRPDV%HDWWLH&&2RIWKH&RPSDQ\  ZLWKUHVSHFWWRH[SHQVHVLQFXUUHGRQ
EHKDOIRIWKH&RPSDQ\
x 0RPHQWXP 9HQWXUHV ,QF D FRPSDQ\ FRQWUROOHG E\ 0U 7KRPDV %HDWWLH &&2 RI WKH &RPSDQ\  
 ZLWKUHVSHFWWRFRQVXOWLQJVHUYLFHV
x .LQJ %D\:HVW  ZLWKUHVSHFWWRWKHVHUYLFHVGHVFULEHGDERYH

7KHDPRXQWVDUHXQVHFXUHGQRQLQWHUHVWEHDULQJDQGKDYHQRIL[HGWHUPVRIUHSD\PHQW

&5,7,&$/$&&2817,1*(67,0$7(6

7KH SUHSDUDWLRQ RI ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV LQ FRQIRUPLW\ ZLWK ,)56UHTXLUHV PDQDJHPHQW WR PDNHHVWLPDWHV DQG
DVVXPSWLRQV7KHVHHVWLPDWHVDQGDVVXPSWLRQVDIIHFWWKHUHSRUWHGDPRXQWVRIDVVHWVOLDELOLWLHVVKDUHKROGHUV¶
HTXLW\ DQG WKH GLVFORVXUH RI FRQWLQJHQW DVVHWV DQG OLDELOLWLHV DV DW WKH GDWH RI WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV DQG
H[SHQVHVIRUWKHSHULRGVUHSRUWHG

6LJQLILFDQWDVVXPSWLRQVDERXWWKHIXWXUHDQGRWKHUVRXUFHVRIHVWLPDWLRQXQFHUWDLQW\WKDWPDQDJHPHQWKDVPDGH
DWWKHHQGRIWKHUHSRUWLQJSHULRGZKLFKFRXOGUHVXOWLQDPDWHULDODGMXVWPHQWWRWKHFDUU\LQJDPRXQWVRIDVVHWV
DQGOLDELOLWLHVLQWKHHYHQWWKDWDFWXDOUHVXOWVGLIIHUIURPDVVXPSWLRQVPDGHUHODWHWREXWDUHQRWOLPLWHGWRWKH
IROORZLQJ

D  7KHUHFRYHUDELOLW\RIUHFHLYDEOHVSUHSD\PHQWVDQGGHSRVLWVWKDWDUHLQFOXGHGLQWKHFRQVROLGDWHGVWDWHPHQWV
RIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQ

E  7KHIDLUYDOXHRIVWRFNRSWLRQVZDUUDQWVDQGFRPSHQVDWLRQRSWLRQVZKLFKUHTXLUHVWKHHVWLPDWLRQRIVWRFN
SULFHYRODWLOLW\WKHH[SHFWHGIRUIHLWXUHUDWHDQGWKHH[SHFWHGWHUPRIWKHXQGHUO\LQJLQVWUXPHQWV

F  7KHIDLUYDOXHRIUHVWULFWHGVKDUHXQLWVZKLFKUHTXLUHVWKHHVWLPDWLRQRIWKHQXPEHURIDZDUGVOLNHO\WRYHVW
RQJUDQWDQGDWHDFKUHSRUWLQJGDWHXSWRWKHYHVWLQJGDWH

G  7KHIDLUYDOXHRIWKHLQYHVWPHQWIRUZKLFKDTXRWHGPDUNHWSULFHLQDQDFWLYHPDUNHWLVQRWDYDLODEOH

H  7KHUHFRYHUDELOLW\RIGHIHUUHGWD[DVVHWVEDVHGRQWKHDVVHVVPHQWRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDELOLW\WRXWLOL]HWKH
XQGHUO\LQJIXWXUHWD[GHGXFWLRQVDJDLQVWIXWXUHWD[DEOHLQFRPHSULRUWRH[SLU\RIWKRVHGHGXFWLRQV

I  7KHDVVHVVPHQWRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDELOLW\WRFRQWLQXHDVDJRLQJFRQFHUQDQGWRUDLVHVXIILFLHQWIXQGVWRSD\
LWVRQJRLQJRSHUDWLQJH[SHQGLWXUHVDQGWRPHHWLWVOLDELOLWLHVIRUWKHHQVXLQJ\HDULQYROYHVVLJQLILFDQWMXGJPHQW
EDVHGRQKLVWRULFDOH[SHULHQFHDQGRWKHUIDFWRUVLQFOXGLQJH[SHFWDWLRQRIIXWXUHHYHQWVWKDWDUHEHOLHYHGWR
EHUHDVRQDEOHXQGHUWKHFLUFXPVWDQFHV

$&&2817,1*32/,&,(6

7KHDFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHVIROORZHGE\WKH&RPSDQ\DUHVHWRXWLQ1RWHWRWKHDFFRPSDQ\LQJFRQVROLGDWHGILQDQFLDO
VWDWHPHQWVIRUWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

),1$1&,$/,167580(176

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWVDUHVXEMHFWWRFHUWDLQULVNV
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&UHGLWULVN

)LQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWVWKDWSRWHQWLDOO\VXEMHFWWKH&RPSDQ\WRFRQFHQWUDWLRQVRIFUHGLWULVNFRQVLVWSULQFLSDOO\RI
FDVKDPRXQWVUHFHLYDEOHDQGGHSRVLWV7KHULVNDULVHVIURPWKHQRQSHUIRUPDQFHE\FRXQWHUSDUWLHVRIFRQWUDFWXDO
ILQDQFLDO REOLJDWLRQV 7R PLQLPL]H FUHGLW ULVN WKH &RPSDQ\ SODFHV FDVK DQG GHSRVLWV ZLWK KLJK FUHGLW TXDOLW\
ILQDQFLDOLQVWLWXWLRQVDQGEURNHUDJHILUPV7KH&RPSDQ\¶VDPRXQWVUHFHLYDEOHFRQVLVWVPDLQO\RILQSXWWD[FUHGLWV
GXHIURPWKH*RYHUQPHQWRI&DQDGDDQGDVVXFKDUHH[SRVHGWRLQVLJQLILFDQWFUHGLWULVN

7KHPD[LPXPH[SRVXUHWRFUHGLWULVNLVWKHFDUU\LQJDPRXQWRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWV

/LTXLGLW\ULVN

7KH&RPSDQ\¶VDSSURDFKWRPDQDJLQJOLTXLGLW\ULVNLVWRKDYHVXIILFLHQWIXQGVWRPHHWOLDELOLWLHVZKHQWKH\EHFRPH
GXH'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\FRPSOHWHGHTXLW\ILQDQFLQJIRUJURVVSURFHHGVRI
WKHSURFHHGVRIZKLFKZLOOEHXVHGWRIXUWKHUWKHEXVLQHVVREMHFWLYHVRIWKH&RPSDQ\DQGIRUZRUNLQJ
FDSLWDOSXUSRVHV

$WSUHVHQWWKH&RPSDQ\KDVQRPDWHULDORSHUDWLQJLQFRPHRUFDVKIORZV7KH&RPSDQ\LQWHQGVWRILQDQFHLWV
IXWXUHUHTXLUHPHQWVWKURXJKHTXLW\LVVXDQFHV7KHUHLVQRDVVXUDQFHWKDWWKH&RPSDQ\ZLOOEHDEOHWRREWDLQ
DGGLWLRQDOILQDQFLQJRUREWDLQLWRQIDYRUDEOHWHUPV7KHVHPDWHULDOXQFHUWDLQWLHVPD\FDVWVLJQLILFDQWGRXEWRQ
WKH&RPSDQ\¶VDELOLW\WRFRQWLQXHDVDJRLQJFRQFHUQ

0DUNHWULVN

0DUNHWULVNVFRQVLVWRILQWHUHVWUDWHULVNIRUHLJQFXUUHQF\ULVNDQGRWKHUSULFHULVN

,QWHUHVWUDWHULVN

$VDW'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\LVQRWH[SRVHGWRLQWHUHVWUDWHULVN

)RUHLJQFXUUHQF\ULVN

9ROHR86$LQFXUVRSHUDWLQJH[SHQGLWXUHVGHQRPLQDWHGLQ86GROODUVLQFRQQHFWLRQZLWKLWVUHJLVWHUHGEURNHUGHDOHU
IXQFWLRQV H[SRVLQJ WKH &RPSDQ\ WR IRUHLJQ FXUUHQF\ ULVN  7KH &RPSDQ\¶V ILQDQFLQJ KDV EHHQ SULPDULO\
GHQRPLQDWHGLQ&DQDGLDQGROODUVEXWDQ\IXWXUHHTXLW\UDLVHGPD\EHLQHLWKHU86GROODUVRU&DQDGLDQGROODUV$V
DW'HFHPEHUDSSUR[LPDWHO\RIFDVKDQGRIGHSRVLWVDUHKHOGLQ86GROODUEDQNRUEURNHUDJH
DFFRXQWV$FKDQJHLQWKH&DQDGLDQGROODUYHUVXVWKH86GROODUZRXOGDIIHFWWKHORVVRIWKH&RPSDQ\E\
DSSUR[LPDWHO\DQGWKHFRPSUHKHQVLYHORVVRIWKH&RPSDQ\E\DSSUR[LPDWHO\

2WKHUSULFHULVN

2WKHUSULFHULVNLVWKHULVNWKDWWKHIDLUYDOXHRUIXWXUHFDVKIORZVRIDILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWZLOOIOXFWXDWHGXHWR
FKDQJHVLQPDUNHWSULFHVRWKHUWKDQWKRVHDULVLQJIURPLQWHUHVWUDWHULVN

7KH&RPSDQ\LVH[SRVHGWRSULFHULVNZLWKUHVSHFWWRLWVLQYHVWPHQWLQ.7KH&RPSDQ\KDVGHWHUPLQHGWKDWLWV
DELOLW\WRUHDOL]HRQWKLVLQYHVWPHQWLVXQFHUWDLQDQGKDVWKHUHIRUHUHGXFHGWKHFDUU\LQJYDOXHWR


7KH&RPSDQ\LVH[SRVHGWRSULFHULVNZLWKUHVSHFWWRHTXLW\SULFHV(TXLW\SULFHULVNLVGHILQHGDVWKHSRWHQWLDO
DGYHUVHLPSDFWRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VHDUQLQJVGXHWRPRYHPHQWVLQLQGLYLGXDOHTXLW\SULFHVRUJHQHUDOPRYHPHQWV
LQ WKH OHYHO RI WKH VWRFN PDUNHW 7KH &RPSDQ\¶V DELOLW\ WR UDLVH FDSLWDO WR IXQG RSHUDWLRQV LV VXEMHFW WR ULVNV
DVVRFLDWHGZLWKHTXLW\SULFHV
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5,6.)$&7256

&HUWDLQRIWKHPRUHSURPLQHQWULVNIDFWRUVWKDWPD\PDWHULDOO\DIIHFWWKH&RPSDQ\¶VIXWXUHSHUIRUPDQFHLQDGGLWLRQ
WRWKRVHUHIHUUHGWRDERYHDUHOLVWHGKHUHXQGHU

8QFHUWDLQWLHVDVVRFLDWHGZLWKWKH7UDQVDFWLRQ
7KH7UDQVDFWLRQLQYROYHVWKHLQWHJUDWLRQRIFRPSDQLHVWKDWSUHYLRXVO\RSHUDWHGLQGHSHQGHQWO\$QLPSRUWDQWIDFWRU
LQWKHVXFFHVVRIWKH7UDQVDFWLRQZLOOEHWKHDELOLW\RIWKHPDQDJHPHQWRIWKHUHVXOWLQJLVVXHUWRLQWHJUDWHDOORU
SDUWRIWKHRSHUDWLRQVV\VWHPVDQGWHFKQRORJLHVRIWKHWZRHQWLWLHVIROORZLQJFRPSOHWLRQRIWKH7UDQVDFWLRQ7KH
7UDQVDFWLRQDQGRUWKHLQWHJUDWLRQRIWKHWZREXVLQHVVHVFDQUHVXOWLQXQDQWLFLSDWHGRSHUDWLRQDOSUREOHPVDQG
LQWHUUXSWLRQV H[SHQVHV DQG OLDELOLWLHV WKH GLYHUVLRQ RI PDQDJHPHQW DWWHQWLRQ DQG WKH ORVV RI NH\ HPSOR\HHV
7KHUHFDQEHQRDVVXUDQFHWKDWWKH7UDQVDFWLRQDQGEXVLQHVVLQWHJUDWLRQZLOOEHVXFFHVVIXORUWKDWWKHFRPELQDWLRQ
ZLOOQRWDGYHUVHO\DIIHFWWKHEXVLQHVVILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQRURSHUDWLQJUHVXOWV7KHUHFDQEHQRDVVXUDQFHWKDWWKH
&RPSDQ\ZLOOQRWLQFXUDGGLWLRQDOPDWHULDOFRVWVLQVXEVHTXHQWTXDUWHUVWRUHIOHFWDGGLWLRQDOFRVWVDVVRFLDWHGZLWK
WKH7UDQVDFWLRQRUWKDWWKDWWKHEHQHILWVH[SHFWHGIURPWKH7UDQVDFWLRQZLOOEHUHDOL]HG
)LQDQFLQJ

7KH &RPSDQ\ GRHV QRW FXUUHQWO\ KDYH DQ\ PDWHULDO RSHUDWLRQV JHQHUDWLQJ FDVK WR IXQG SURMHFWHG OHYHOV RI
RSHUDWLQJDFWLYLW\DQGDVVRFLDWHGRYHUKHDGFRVWV7KH&RPSDQ\LVWKHUHIRUHGHSHQGHQWXSRQGHEWDQGHTXLW\
ILQDQFLQJWRFDUU\RXWLWVVWUDWHJLFSODQV7KHUHFDQEHQRDVVXUDQFHWKDWVXFKILQDQFLQJZLOOEHDYDLODEOHWRWKH
&RPSDQ\  ,Q WKH IXWXUH WKH &RPSDQ\ ZLOO UHTXLUH DGGLWLRQDO IXQGLQJ WR DGYDQFH LWV REMHFWLYHV  7KH ODFN RI
DGGLWLRQDOILQDQFLQJFRXOGUHVXOWLQWKH VDOHRIDVVHWVE\WKH &RPSDQ\RUGHOD\RULQGHILQLWHSRVWSRQHPHQWRI
IXUWKHUGHYHORSPHQWRIWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDVVHWV

7KH&RPSDQ\KDVDKLVWRU\RIORVVHVDQGH[SHFWVWRLQFXUORVVHVIRUWKHIRUHVHHDEOHIXWXUH

7KH&RPSDQ\KDVLQFXUUHGORVVHVVLQFHLWVLQFHSWLRQDQGH[SHFWVWRLQFXUORVVHVIRUWKHIRUHVHHDEOHIXWXUH7KH
&RPSDQ\H[SHFWVWRFRQWLQXHWRLQFXUORVVHVXQOHVVDQGXQWLOVXFKWLPHDVFRPPHUFLDOL]DWLRQLVDFKLHYHGDQGLW
JHQHUDWHVVXIILFLHQWUHYHQXHVWRIXQGFRQWLQXLQJRSHUDWLRQV7KHDPRXQWDQGWLPLQJRIH[SHQGLWXUHVZLOOGHSHQG
RQDQXPEHURIIDFWRUVLQFOXGLQJWKHSURJUHVVRIRQJRLQJGHYHORSPHQWWKHUHVXOWVRIFRQVXOWDQWDQDO\VLVDQG
UHFRPPHQGDWLRQVWKHUDWHDWZKLFKRSHUDWLQJORVVHVDUHLQFXUUHGWKHH[HFXWLRQRIDQ\DJUHHPHQWVZLWKVWUDWHJLF
SDUWQHUVDQGRXUDFTXLVLWLRQRIFXVWRPHUV6RPHRIWKHVHIDFWRUVDUHEH\RQGWKH&RPSDQ\¶VFRQWURO7KHUHFDQ
EHQRDVVXUDQFHWKDWWKH&RPSDQ\ZLOOHYHUDFKLHYHSURILWDELOLW\

*HQHUDOHFRQRPLFFRQGLWLRQVPD\DGYHUVHO\DIIHFW9ROHR VJURZWKIXWXUHSURILWDELOLW\DELOLW\WRILQDQFH
DQGRSHUDWLRQV

*OREDOILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQVFRQWLQXHWREHFKDUDFWHUL]HGDVYRODWLOH,QUHFHQW\HDUVJOREDOPDUNHWVKDYHEHHQ
DGYHUVHO\LPSDFWHGE\YDULRXVFUHGLWFULVHVDQGVLJQLILFDQWIOXFWXDWLRQVLQPHWDOVSULFHVDQGIXHODQGHQHUJ\FRVWV
0DQ\LQGXVWULHVKDYHEHHQLPSDFWHGE\WKHVHPDUNHWFRQGLWLRQV*OREDOILQDQFLDOFRQGLWLRQVUHPDLQVXEMHFWWR
VXGGHQDQGUDSLGGHVWDELOL]DWLRQVLQUHVSRQVHWRIXWXUHHYHQWV$FRQWLQXHGRUZRUVHQHGVORZGRZQLQWKHILQDQFLDO
PDUNHWV RU RWKHU HFRQRPLF FRQGLWLRQV LQFOXGLQJ EXW QRW OLPLWHG WR FRQVXPHU VSHQGLQJ HPSOR\PHQW UDWHV
EXVLQHVVFRQGLWLRQVLQIODWLRQFRQVXPHUGHEWOHYHOVODFNRIDYDLODEOHFUHGLWWKHVWDWHRIWKHILQDQFLDOPDUNHWV
LQWHUHVWUDWHVDQGWD[UDWHVPD\DGYHUVHO\DIIHFWWKH&RPSDQ\¶VJURZWKDQGSURILWDELOLW\)XWXUHFULVHVPD\EH
SUHFLSLWDWHGE\DQ\QXPEHURIFDXVHVLQFOXGLQJQDWXUDOGLVDVWHUVJHRSROLWLFDOLQVWDELOLW\FKDQJHVWRHQHUJ\SULFHV
RUVRYHUHLJQGHIDXOWV,ILQFUHDVHGOHYHOVRIYRODWLOLW\FRQWLQXHRULQWKHHYHQWRIDUDSLGGHVWDELOL]DWLRQRIJOREDO
HFRQRPLFFRQGLWLRQVLWPD\UHVXOWLQDPDWHULDODGYHUVHHIIHFWRQLQYHVWRUFRQILGHQFHDQGJHQHUDOILQDQFLDOPDUNHW
OLTXLGLW\DOORIZKLFKPD\DGYHUVHO\DIIHFWRXUEXVLQHVVDQGWKHPDUNHWSULFHRIRXUVHFXULWLHV
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,QDGGLWLRQWKHFXUUHQWRXWEUHDNRIWKHQRYHOFRURQDYLUXV &29,' WKDWZDVILUVWUHSRUWHGIURP:XKDQ&KLQD
LQ'HFHPEHUDQGDQ\IXWXUHHPHUJHQFHDQGVSUHDGRIVLPLODUSDWKRJHQVFRXOGKDYHDPDWHULDODGYHUVH
HIIHFWRQJOREDOHFRQRPLFFRQGLWLRQVZKLFKPD\DGYHUVHO\LPSDFWRXUEXVLQHVVDQGUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGWKH
RSHUDWLRQVRIRXUVXSSOLHUVFRQWUDFWRUVDQGVHUYLFHSURYLGHUVDQGWKHGHPDQGIRUWUDGLQJRQWKH9ROHRSODWIRUP
:KLOHLQLWLDOO\WKHRXWEUHDNZDVODUJHO\FRQFHQWUDWHGLQ&KLQDDQGFDXVHGVLJQLILFDQWGLVUXSWLRQVWRLWVHFRQRP\
LWKDVQRZVSUHDGWRPDQ\RWKHUFRXQWULHVDQGLQIHFWLRQVKDYHEHHQUHSRUWHGJOREDOO\7KHVSUHDGRIWKHQRYHO
FRURQDYLUXV PD\ KDYH D VLJQLILFDQW DGYHUVH LPSDFW RQ RXU ZRUNIRUFH DQG RXU DELOLW\ WR FRQWLQXH RSHUDWLQJ WKH
9ROHR SODWIRUP 7KH H[WHQW WR ZKLFK WKH QRYHO FRURQDYLUXV LPSDFWV RXU RSHUDWLRQV ZLOO GHSHQG RQ IXWXUH
GHYHORSPHQWVZKLFKDUHKLJKO\XQFHUWDLQDQGFDQQRWEHSUHGLFWHGZLWKFRQILGHQFHLQFOXGLQJWKHGXUDWLRQRIWKH
RXWEUHDNQHZLQIRUPDWLRQWKDWPD\HPHUJHFRQFHUQLQJWKHVHYHULW\RIWKHQRYHOFRURQDYLUXVDQGWKHDFWLRQVWDNHQ
WRFRQWDLQWKHQRYHOFRURQDYLUXVRUWUHDWLWVLPSDFWDPRQJRWKHUV

0RUHRYHUWKHDFWXDODQGWKUHDWHQHGVSUHDGRIWKHQRYHOFRURQDYLUXVJOREDOO\FRXOGDOVRKDYHDPDWHULDODGYHUVH
HIIHFWRQWKHUHJLRQDOHFRQRPLHVLQZKLFKZHRSHUDWHFRXOGFRQWLQXHWRQHJDWLYHO\LPSDFWVWRFNPDUNHWVLQFOXGLQJ
WKHWUDGLQJSULFHRIRXUVKDUHVFRXOGDGYHUVHO\LPSDFWRXUDELOLW\WRUDLVHFDSLWDOFRXOGFDXVHFRQWLQXHGLQWHUHVW
UDWHYRODWLOLW\DQGPRYHPHQWVWKDWFRXOGPDNHREWDLQLQJILQDQFLQJPRUHFKDOOHQJLQJRUPRUHH[SHQVLYH$Q\RI
WKHVHGHYHORSPHQWVDQGRWKHUVFRXOGKDYHDPDWHULDODGYHUVHHIIHFWRQRXUEXVLQHVVDQGUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQV

/LPLWHGRSHUDWLQJKLVWRU\

7KH&RPSDQ\LVDQHDUO\VWDJHFRPSDQ\DQGDVDUHVXOWLWKDVDOLPLWHGRSHUDWLQJKLVWRU\XSRQZKLFKLWVEXVLQHVV
DQGIXWXUHSURVSHFWVPD\EHHYDOXDWHG7RGDWHWKH&RPSDQ\KDVLQFXUUHGVLJQLILFDQWORVVHVDQGPD\QHYHU
DFKLHYH RU PDLQWDLQ SURILWDELOLW\ 7KH &RPSDQ\ PD\ QRW JDLQ FXVWRPHU DFFHSWDQFH RI LWV DSSOLFDWLRQV LQ QHZ
PDUNHWV GXH WR LWV ODFN RI DQ HVWDEOLVKHG WUDFN UHFRUG LWV ILQDQFLDO FRQGLWLRQ FRPSHWLWLRQ RU D YDULHW\ RI RWKHU
IDFWRUV7KH&RPSDQ\¶VIXWXUHUHYHQXHVDQGH[SHQVHVDUHVXEMHFWWRFRQGLWLRQVWKDWPD\FKDQJHWRDQH[WHQW
WKDWFDQQRWEHGHWHUPLQHGDWWKLVWLPH,IWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDSSOLFDWLRQVDUHQRWDFFHSWHGE\QHZFXVWRPHUVRUDW
DQWLFLSDWHGOHYHOVWKH&RPSDQ\¶VRSHUDWLQJUHVXOWVPD\EHPDWHULDOO\DQGDGYHUVHO\DIIHFWHG

3HUVRQQHO

7KH ORVV RI NH\ SHUVRQQHO FRXOG KDYH D PDWHULDO DGYHUVH HIIHFW RQ LWV EXVLQHVV DQG UHVXOWV RI RSHUDWLRQV ,Q
DGGLWLRQ DQ LQDELOLW\ WR KLUH RU WKH LQFUHDVHG FRVWV RI QHZ SHUVRQQHO LQFOXGLQJ PHPEHUV RI H[HFXWLYH
PDQDJHPHQWFRXOGKDYHDPDWHULDODGYHUVHHIIHFWRQWKH&RPSDQ\¶VEXVLQHVVDQGRSHUDWLQJUHVXOWV

$WSUHVHQWDQGIRUWKHQHDUIXWXUHWKH&RPSDQ\ZLOOGHSHQGXSRQDUHODWLYHO\VPDOOQXPEHURIHPSOR\HHVDQG
FRQWUDFWRUVWRGHYHORSPDUNHWVHOODQGVXSSRUWLWVWHFKQRORJ\7KHH[SDQVLRQRIWHFKQRORJ\PDUNHWLQJDQGVDOHV
RILWVSODWIRUPZLOOUHTXLUHWKH&RPSDQ\WRILQGKLUHDQGUHWDLQDGGLWLRQDOFDSDEOHHPSOR\HHVRUFRQWUDFWRUVZKR
FDQXQGHUVWDQGH[SODLQPDUNHWDQGVHOOLWVWHFKQRORJ\7KHUHLVLQWHQVHFRPSHWLWLRQIRUFDSDEOHSHUVRQQHOLQDOO
RIWKHVHDUHDVDQGWKH&RPSDQ\PD\QRWEHVXFFHVVIXOLQDWWUDFWLQJWUDLQLQJLQWHJUDWLQJPRWLYDWLQJRUUHWDLQLQJ
QHZ SHUVRQQHO YHQGRUV RU FRQWUDFWRUV IRU WKHVH UHTXLUHG IXQFWLRQV 1HZ HPSOR\HHV RIWHQ UHTXLUH VLJQLILFDQW
WUDLQLQJDQGLQPDQ\FDVHVWDNHVLJQLILFDQWWLPHEHIRUHWKH\DFKLHYHIXOOSURGXFWLYLW\$VDUHVXOWWKH&RPSDQ\
PD\LQFXUVLJQLILFDQWFRVWVWRDWWUDFWDQGUHWDLQHPSOR\HHVLQFOXGLQJVLJQLILFDQWH[SHQGLWXUHVUHODWHGWRVDODULHV
DQG EHQHILWV DQG FRPSHQVDWLRQ H[SHQVHV UHODWHG WR HTXLW\ DZDUGV DQG PD\ ORVH QHZ HPSOR\HHV WR LWV
FRPSHWLWRUVRURWKHUFRPSDQLHVEHIRUHLWUHDOL]HVWKHEHQHILWRILWVLQYHVWPHQWLQUHFUXLWLQJDQGWUDLQLQJWKHP
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&RQIOLFWVRILQWHUHVW

&HUWDLQ GLUHFWRUV DQG RIILFHUV RI WKH &RPSDQ\ DUH RU PD\ EHFRPH GLUHFWRUV RU RIILFHUV RI RU KDYH VLJQLILFDQW
VKDUHKROGLQJVLQRWKHUFRPSDQLHVDQGWRWKHH[WHQWWKDWVXFKRWKHUFRPSDQLHVPD\SDUWLFLSDWHLQYHQWXUHVLQ
ZKLFKWKH&RPSDQ\PD\SDUWLFLSDWHWKHGLUHFWRUVDQGRIILFHUVRIWKH&RPSDQ\PD\KDYHDFRQIOLFWRILQWHUHVWLQ
QHJRWLDWLQJ DQG FRQFOXGLQJ WHUPV UHVSHFWLQJ WKHH[WHQW RI VXFK SDUWLFLSDWLRQ6XFK RWKHUFRPSDQLHV PD\ DOVR
FRPSHWHZLWKWKH&RPSDQ\,QWKHHYHQWWKDWDQ\VXFKFRQIOLFWRILQWHUHVWDULVHVDGLUHFWRUZKRKDVVXFKDFRQIOLFW
ZLOOGLVFORVHWKHFRQIOLFWWRDPHHWLQJRIWKHGLUHFWRUVRIWKH&RPSDQ\DQGZLOODEVWDLQIURPYRWLQJIRURUDJDLQVW
WKHDSSURYDORIVXFKSDUWLFLSDWLRQRUVXFKWHUPV,QDFFRUGDQFHZLWKDSSOLFDEOHODZVWKHGLUHFWRUVRIWKH&RPSDQ\
DUHUHTXLUHGWRDFWKRQHVWO\LQJRRGIDLWKDQGLQWKHEHVWLQWHUHVWVRIWKH&RPSDQ\,QGHWHUPLQLQJZKHWKHURUQRW
WKH&RPSDQ\ZLOOSDUWLFLSDWHLQDSDUWLFXODUWUDQVDFWLRQWKHGLUHFWRUVZLOOSULPDULO\FRQVLGHUWKHSRWHQWLDOEHQHILWV
WRWKH&RPSDQ\WKHGHJUHHRIULVNWRZKLFKWKH&RPSDQ\PD\EHH[SRVHGDQGLWVILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQDWWKDWWLPH

8QDQWLFLSDWHGSUREOHPVDVVRFLDWHGZLWKWKH&RPSDQ\¶VWHFKQRORJ\

%HFDXVHWKH&RPSDQ\¶VWHFKQRORJ\LVFRPSOH[XQGHWHFWHGHUURUVDQGIDLOXUHVPD\RFFXUHVSHFLDOO\ZKHQQHZ
YHUVLRQVRUXSGDWHVDUHPDGH7KH&RPSDQ\¶VWHFKQRORJ\PD\FRQWDLQXQGHWHFWHGHUURUVRUEXJVZKLFKUHVXOW
LQ V\VWHP IDLOXUHV RU IDLOXUH WR SHUIRUP LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK LQGXVWU\ RU FXVWRPHU H[SHFWDWLRQV 'HVSLWH WKH
&RPSDQ\¶V SODQV IRU TXDOLW\ FRQWURO DQG WHVWLQJ PHDVXUHV LWV WHFKQRORJ\ LQFOXGLQJ DQ\ HQKDQFHPHQWV PD\
FRQWDLQVXFKEXJVRUH[KLELWSHUIRUPDQFHGHJUDGDWLRQSDUWLFXODUO\GXULQJSHULRGVRIUDSLGH[SDQVLRQ,QVXFKDQ
HYHQWWKH&RPSDQ\PD\EHUHTXLUHGRUFKRRVHWRH[SHQGDGGLWLRQDOUHVRXUFHVWRKHOSPLWLJDWHDQ\SUREOHPV
UHVXOWLQJIURPHUURUVLQLWVVRIWZDUH3URGXFWRUV\VWHPSHUIRUPDQFHSUREOHPVFRXOGUHVXOWLQORVVRIRUGHOD\LQ
UHYHQXHORVVRIPDUNHWVKDUHIDLOXUHWRDFKLHYHPDUNHWDFFHSWDQFHDGYHUVHSXEOLFLW\GLYHUVLRQRIGHYHORSPHQW
UHVRXUFHVDQGFODLPVDJDLQVWWKH&RPSDQ\E\LWVFXVWRPHUVDQGRWKHUSDUWLHV

9ROHR86$LVVXEMHFWWRH[WHQVLYHVHFXULWLHVUHJXODWLRQDQGWKHIDLOXUHWRFRPSO\ZLWKWKHVHUHJXODWLRQV
FRXOGVXEMHFWLWWRPRQHWDU\SHQDOWLHVRUVDQFWLRQV

7KH VHFXULWLHV LQGXVWU\ DQG 9ROHR 86$ V EXVLQHVV DUH VXEMHFW WR H[WHQVLYH UHJXODWLRQ E\ WKH 6(& DQG RWKHU
JRYHUQPHQWDO UHJXODWRU\ DXWKRULWLHV 9ROHR 86$ LV DOVR UHJXODWHG E\ LQGXVWU\ VHOIUHJXODWRU\ RUJDQL]DWLRQV
LQFOXGLQJ ),15$  9ROHR 86$ PD\ EH DGYHUVHO\ DIIHFWHG E\ FKDQJHV LQ WKH LQWHUSUHWDWLRQ RU HQIRUFHPHQW RI
H[LVWLQJ ODZV DQG UXOHV E\ WKHVH JRYHUQPHQWDO DXWKRULWLHV DQG VHOIUHJXODWRU\ RUJDQL]DWLRQV 7KH UHJXODWRU\
HQYLURQPHQW LV VXEMHFW WR FKDQJH DQG 9ROHR 86$ PD\ EH DGYHUVHO\ DIIHFWHG DV D UHVXOW RI QHZ RU UHYLVHG
OHJLVODWLRQRUUHJXODWLRQVLPSRVHGE\WKH6(&RWKHUIHGHUDORUVWDWHJRYHUQPHQWDOUHJXODWRU\DXWKRULWLHVRUVHOI
UHJXODWRU\RUJDQL]DWLRQV,QUHVSRQVHWRWKH86ILQDQFLDOFULVLVRIWKHUHJXODWRU\HQYLURQPHQWWRZKLFK
9ROHR 86$ LV VXEMHFWHG LV H[SHFWHG WR IXUWKHU LQWHQVLI\ DV DGGLWLRQDO UXOHV DQG UHJXODWLRQV DUH DGRSWHG E\
UHJXODWRUV7KHVHQHZUHJXODWLRQVZLOOOLNHO\LQFUHDVHFRVWVUHODWHGWRFRPSOLDQFHDQGPD\LQRWKHUZD\VDGYHUVHO\
DIIHFWWKHSHUIRUPDQFHRI9ROHR86$

9ROHR86$LVDEURNHUGHDOHUUHJLVWHUHGZLWKWKH6(&DQGLVD),15$PHPEHU%URNHUGHDOHUVDUHVXEMHFWWR
UHJXODWLRQVZKLFKFRYHUDOODVSHFWVRIWKHVHFXULWLHVEXVLQHVVLQFOXGLQJEXWQRWOLPLWHGWRWUDGLQJSUDFWLFHVXVH
DQGVDIHNHHSLQJRIFXVWRPHUV IXQGVDQGVHFXULWLHVDQWLPRQH\ODXQGHULQJDQG3DWULRW$FWFRPSOLDQFHFDSLWDO
VWUXFWXUHF\EHUVHFXULW\SULFLQJRIVHUYLFHVUHFRUGNHHSLQJDQGWKHFRQGXFWRIGLUHFWRUVRIILFHUVDQGHPSOR\HHV

&RPSOLDQFHZLWKPDQ\RIWKHUHJXODWLRQVDSSOLFDEOHWR9ROHR86$LQYROYHVDQXPEHURIULVNVSDUWLFXODUO\LQDUHDV
ZKHUH DSSOLFDEOH UHJXODWLRQV PD\ EH VXEMHFW WR YDU\LQJ LQWHUSUHWDWLRQ 7KH UHTXLUHPHQWV LPSRVHG E\ WKHVH
UHJXODWLRQVDUHGHVLJQHGWRHQVXUHWKHLQWHJULW\RIWKHILQDQFLDOPDUNHWVDQGWRSURWHFWFXVWRPHUVDQGRWKHUWKLUG
SDUWLHVZKRGHDOZLWK9ROHR86$1HZUHJXODWLRQVPD\UHVXOWLQHQKDQFHGVWDQGDUGVRIGXW\RQEURNHUGHDOHUVLQ
WKHLUGHDOLQJVZLWKWKHLUFOLHQWV ILGXFLDU\VWDQGDUGV &RQVHTXHQWO\WKHVHUHJXODWLRQVRIWHQVHUYHWROLPLW9ROHR
86$ VDFWLYLWLHVLQFOXGLQJWKURXJKQHWFDSLWDOFXVWRPHUSURWHFWLRQDQGPDUNHWFRQGXFWUHTXLUHPHQWV0XFKRIWKH
UHJXODWLRQRIEURNHUGHDOHUVKDVEHHQGHOHJDWHGWRVHOIUHJXODWRU\RUJDQL]DWLRQVSULQFLSDOO\),15$ZKLFKLV9ROHR
86$ VSULPDU\UHJXODWRU\DJHQF\),15$DGRSWVUXOHVVXEMHFWWRDSSURYDOE\WKH6(&ZKLFKJRYHUQLWVPHPEHUV
DQGFRQGXFWVSHULRGLFH[DPLQDWLRQVRIPHPEHUILUPV RSHUDWLRQV+RZHYHUUHFHQWO\WKH6(&KDVVLJQLILFDQWO\
LQFUHDVHGLWVGLUHFWRYHUVLJKWRIUHJLVWUDQWVLQDUHDVWKDWGLUHFWO\RYHUODSZLWK),15$WKHUHE\LQFUHDVLQJWKHFRVWV
RIFRPSOLDQFHDQGLQFUHDVLQJWKHULVNVDVVRFLDWHGZLWKFRPSOLDQFHZLWKHPHUJLQJVWDQGDUGV
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)LQDQFLDOVHUYLFHVILUPVKDYHEHHQVXEMHFWWRLQFUHDVHGUHJXODWRU\VFUXWLQ\RYHUWKHODVWVHYHUDO\HDUV
LQFUHDVLQJWKHULVNRIILQDQFLDOOLDELOLW\DQGUHSXWDWLRQDOKDUPUHVXOWLQJIURPDGYHUVHUHJXODWRU\DFWLRQV

)LUPV LQ WKH ILQDQFLDO VHUYLFHV LQGXVWU\ KDYH EHHQ RSHUDWLQJ LQ DQ RQHURXV UHJXODWRU\ HQYLURQPHQW ZKLFK ZLOO
EHFRPH HYHQ PRUH VWULQJHQW LQ OLJKW RI UHFHQW ZHOOSXEOLFL]HG IUDXG RU 3RQ]L VFKHPHV 7KH LQGXVWU\ KDV
H[SHULHQFHGLQFUHDVHGVFUXWLQ\IURPDYDULHW\RIUHJXODWRUVLQFOXGLQJWKH6(&DQG),15$DQGVWDWHDWWRUQH\V
JHQHUDO3HQDOWLHVDQGILQHVVRXJKWE\UHJXODWRU\DXWKRULWLHVKDYHLQFUHDVHGVXEVWDQWLDOO\RYHUWKHODVWVHYHUDO
\HDUV9ROHR86$PD\EHDGYHUVHO\DIIHFWHGE\FKDQJHVLQWKHLQWHUSUHWDWLRQRUHQIRUFHPHQWRIH[LVWLQJODZVDQG
UXOHV E\ WKHVH JRYHUQPHQWDO DXWKRULWLHV DQG VHOIUHJXODWRU\ RUJDQL]DWLRQV (DFK RI WKH UHJXODWRU\ ERGLHV ZLWK
MXULVGLFWLRQ RYHU 9ROHR 86$ KDV UHJXODWRU\ SRZHUV GHDOLQJ ZLWK PDQ\ GLIIHUHQW DVSHFWV RI ILQDQFLDO VHUYLFHV
LQFOXGLQJEXWQRWOLPLWHGWRWKHDXWKRULW\WRILQHDQGWRJUDQWFDQFHOUHVWULFWRURWKHUZLVHLPSRVHFRQGLWLRQVRQ
WKHULJKWWRFRQWLQXHRSHUDWLQJSDUWLFXODUEXVLQHVVHV

/HJLVODWLRQKDVDQGPD\FRQWLQXHWRUHVXOWLQFKDQJHVWRUXOHVDQGUHJXODWLRQVDSSOLFDEOHWRRXUEXVLQHVV
ZKLFKPD\QHJDWLYHO\LPSDFWRXUEXVLQHVVDQGILQDQFLDOUHVXOWV

7KHVHFXULWLHVLQGXVWU\LVVXEMHFWWRH[WHQVLYHDQGFRQVWDQWO\FKDQJLQJUHJXODWLRQ%URNHUGHDOHUVDUHVXEMHFWWR
UHJXODWLRQVFRYHULQJDOODVSHFWVRIWKHVHFXULWLHVEXVLQHVVLQFOXGLQJEXWQRWOLPLWHGWRWUDGHSUDFWLFHVXVHDQG
VDIHNHHSLQJRIFOLHQWV¶IXQGVDQGVHFXULWLHVFDSLWDOVWUXFWXUHRIVHFXULWLHVILUPVDQWLPRQH\ODXQGHULQJHIIRUWV
UHFRUGNHHSLQJDQGWKHFRQGXFWRIGLUHFWRUVRIILFHUVDQGHPSOR\HHV$Q\YLRODWLRQRIWKHVHODZVRUUHJXODWLRQV
FRXOGVXEMHFW9ROHR86$WRWKHIROORZLQJHYHQWVDQ\RIZKLFKFRXOGKDYHDPDWHULDODGYHUVHHIIHFWRQLWVEXVLQHVV
ILQDQFLDO FRQGLWLRQ DQG SURVSHFWV FLYLO DQG FULPLQDO OLDELOLW\ VDQFWLRQV ZKLFK FRXOG LQFOXGH WKH UHYRFDWLRQ RI
UHJLVWUDWLRQDVDEURNHUGHDOHUILQHVRUDWHPSRUDU\VXVSHQVLRQRUSHUPDQHQWEDUIURPFRQGXFWLQJEXVLQHVV

)DLOXUHWRFRPSO\ZLWKFDSLWDOUHTXLUHPHQWVFRXOGVXEMHFW9ROHR86$WRVXVSHQVLRQRUUHYRFDWLRQE\WKH
6(&RUVXVSHQVLRQRUH[SXOVLRQE\),15$

9ROHR86$LVVXEMHFWWRWKH6(& V8QLIRUP1HW&DSLWDO5XOHZKLFKUHTXLUHVWKHPDLQWHQDQFHRIPLQLPXPQHW
FDSLWDO)DLOXUHWRFRPSO\ZLWKQHWFDSLWDOUHTXLUHPHQWVFRXOGVXEMHFW9ROHR86$WRVXVSHQVLRQRUUHYRFDWLRQE\
WKH6(&RUVXVSHQVLRQRUH[SXOVLRQE\),15$5HIHUWR³/LTXLGLW\DQG&DSLWDO5HVRXUFHV´

7KH&RPSDQ\ VLQIRUPDWLRQV\VWHPVPD\H[SHULHQFHDQLQWHUUXSWLRQRUEUHDFKLQVHFXULW\

7KH&RPSDQ\UHOLHVKHDYLO\RQFRPPXQLFDWLRQVDQGLQIRUPDWLRQV\VWHPVWRFRQGXFWLWVEXVLQHVV$Q\IDLOXUH
LQWHUUXSWLRQRUEUHDFKLQVHFXULW\RIWKHVHV\VWHPVFRXOGUHVXOWLQIDLOXUHVRUGLVUXSWLRQVLQWKH&RPSDQ\ VFXVWRPHU
UHODWLRQVKLSPDQDJHPHQWJHQHUDOOHGJHUDQGRWKHUV\VWHPV:KLOHWKH&RPSDQ\KDVSROLFLHVDQGSURFHGXUHV
GHVLJQHGWRSUHYHQWRUOLPLWWKHHIIHFWRIWKHIDLOXUHLQWHUUXSWLRQRUVHFXULW\EUHDFKRILWVLQIRUPDWLRQV\VWHPVWKHUH
FDQEHQRDVVXUDQFHWKDWDQ\VXFKIDLOXUHVLQWHUUXSWLRQVRUVHFXULW\EUHDFKHVZLOOQRWRFFXURULIWKH\GRRFFXU
WKDWWKH\ZLOOEHDGHTXDWHO\DGGUHVVHG7KHRFFXUUHQFHRIDQ\IDLOXUHVLQWHUUXSWLRQVRUVHFXULW\EUHDFKHVRIWKH
&RPSDQ\ VLQIRUPDWLRQV\VWHPVFRXOGGDPDJHWKH&RPSDQ\ VUHSXWDWLRQUHVXOWLQDORVVRIFXVWRPHUEXVLQHVV
VXEMHFW WKH &RPSDQ\ WR DGGLWLRQDO UHJXODWRU\ VFUXWLQ\ RU H[SRVH WKH &RPSDQ\ WR FLYLO OLWLJDWLRQ DQG SRVVLEOH
ILQDQFLDO OLDELOLW\ DQ\ RI ZKLFK FRXOG KDYH D PDWHULDO DGYHUVH HIIHFW RQ WKH &RPSDQ\ V ILQDQFLDO FRQGLWLRQ DQG
UHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQV
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7KH&RPSDQ\¶VEXVLQHVVUHOLHVH[WHQVLYHO\RQGDWDSURFHVVLQJDQGFRPPXQLFDWLRQVV\VWHPV,QDGGLWLRQWREHWWHU
VHUYLQJFOLHQWVWKHHIIHFWLYHXVHRIWHFKQRORJ\LQFUHDVHVHIILFLHQF\DQGHQDEOHVWKH&RPSDQ\WRUHGXFHFRVWV
$GDSWLQJRUGHYHORSLQJWHFKQRORJ\V\VWHPVWRPHHWQHZUHJXODWRU\UHTXLUHPHQWVFOLHQWQHHGVDQGFRPSHWLWLYH
GHPDQGVLVFULWLFDO,QWURGXFWLRQRIQHZWHFKQRORJ\SUHVHQWVFKDOOHQJHVRQDUHJXODUEDVLV7KHUHDUHVLJQLILFDQW
WHFKQLFDODQGILQDQFLDOFRVWVDQGULVNVLQWKHGHYHORSPHQWRIQHZRUHQKDQFHGDSSOLFDWLRQVLQFOXGLQJWKHULVNWKDW
WKH &RPSDQ\ PLJKW EH XQDEOH WR HIIHFWLYHO\ XVH QHZ WHFKQRORJLHV RU DGDSW H[LVWLQJ DSSOLFDWLRQV WR HPHUJLQJ
LQGXVWU\ VWDQGDUGV 7KH &RPSDQ\¶V FRQWLQXHG VXFFHVV GHSHQGV LQ SDUW XSRQ RXU DELOLW\ WR L  VXFFHVVIXOO\
PDLQWDLQ DQG XSJUDGH WKH FDSDELOLW\ RI RXU WHFKQRORJ\ V\VWHPV LL  DGGUHVV WKH QHHGV RI RXU FOLHQWV E\ XVLQJ
WHFKQRORJ\ WR SURYLGH SURGXFWV DQG VHUYLFHV WKDW VDWLVI\ WKHLU GHPDQGV DQG LLL  UHWDLQ VNLOOHG LQIRUPDWLRQ
WHFKQRORJ\HPSOR\HHV)DLOXUHRIRXUWHFKQRORJ\V\VWHPVZKLFKFRXOGUHVXOWIURPHYHQWVEH\RQGRXUFRQWURORU
DQLQDELOLW\WRHIIHFWLYHO\XSJUDGHWKRVHV\VWHPVRULPSOHPHQWQHZWHFKQRORJ\GULYHQSURGXFWVRUVHUYLFHVFRXOG
UHVXOWLQILQDQFLDOORVVHVOLDELOLW\WRFOLHQWVYLRODWLRQVRIDSSOLFDEOHSULYDF\DQGRWKHUDSSOLFDEOHODZVDQGUHJXODWRU\
VDQFWLRQV

6HFXULW\EUHDFKHVRIRXUWHFKQRORJ\V\VWHPVRUWKRVHRIRXUFOLHQWVRURWKHUWKLUGSDUW\YHQGRUVZHUHO\
RQFRXOGVXEMHFWXVWRVLJQLILFDQWOLDELOLW\

7KH H[SHFWDWLRQV RI VRXQG RSHUDWLRQDO DQG LQIRUPDWLRQDO VHFXULW\ SUDFWLFHV KDYH ULVHQ DPRQJ RXU FOLHQWV DQG
YHQGRUV WKH SXEOLF DW ODUJH DQG UHJXODWRUV 2XU RSHUDWLRQDO V\VWHPV DQG LQIUDVWUXFWXUH PXVW FRQWLQXH WR EH
VDIHJXDUGHGDQGPRQLWRUHGIRUSRWHQWLDOIDLOXUHVGLVUXSWLRQVF\EHUDWWDFNVDQGEUHDNGRZQV2XURSHUDWLRQVUHO\
RQWKHVHFXUHSURFHVVLQJVWRUDJHDQGWUDQVPLVVLRQRIFRQILGHQWLDODQGRWKHULQIRUPDWLRQLQRXUFRPSXWHUV\VWHPV
DQGQHWZRUNV$OWKRXJKF\EHUVHFXULW\LQFLGHQWVDUHRQWKHULVHZHKDYHQRWH[SHULHQFHGDQ\PDWHULDOORVVHV
UHODWLQJWRF\EHUDWWDFNVRURWKHULQIRUPDWLRQVHFXULW\EUHDFKHV+RZHYHUWKHUHFDQEHQRDVVXUDQFHWKDWZHZLOO
QRWVXIIHUVXFKORVVHVLQWKHIXWXUH

'HVSLWHRXULPSOHPHQWDWLRQRISURWHFWLYHPHDVXUHVDQGHQGHDYRULQJWRPRGLI\WKHPDVFLUFXPVWDQFHVZDUUDQW
RXUFRPSXWHUV\VWHPVVRIWZDUHDQGQHWZRUNVPD\EHYXOQHUDEOHWRKXPDQHUURUQDWXUDOGLVDVWHUVSRZHUORVV
VSDPDWWDFNVXQDXWKRUL]HGDFFHVVGLVWULEXWHGGHQLDORIVHUYLFHDWWDFNVFRPSXWHUYLUXVHVDQGRWKHUPDOLFLRXV
FRGHDQGRWKHUHYHQWVWKDWFRXOGKDYHDQLPSDFWRQWKHVHFXULW\DQGVWDELOLW\RIRXURSHUDWLRQV1RWZLWKVWDQGLQJ
WKHSUHFDXWLRQVZHWDNHLIRQHRUPRUHRIWKHVHHYHQWVZHUHWRRFFXUWKLVFRXOGMHRSDUGL]HWKHLQIRUPDWLRQZH
FRQILGHQWLDOO\ PDLQWDLQ LQFOXGLQJ WKDW RI RXU FOLHQWV DQG FRXQWHUSDUWLHV ZKLFK LV SURFHVVHG VWRUHG LQ DQG
WUDQVPLWWHGWKURXJKRXUFRPSXWHUV\VWHPVDQGQHWZRUNVRURWKHUZLVHFDXVHLQWHUUXSWLRQVRUPDOIXQFWLRQVLQRXU
RSHUDWLRQVRUWKHRSHUDWLRQVRIRXUFOLHQWVDQGFRXQWHUSDUWLHV:HPD\EHUHTXLUHGWRH[SHQGVLJQLILFDQWDGGLWLRQDO
UHVRXUFHVWRPRGLI\RXUSURWHFWLYHPHDVXUHVWRLQYHVWLJDWHDQGUHPHGLDWHYXOQHUDELOLWLHVRURWKHUH[SRVXUHVRU
WR PDNH UHTXLUHG QRWLILFDWLRQV $ WHFKQRORJLFDO EUHDNGRZQ FRXOG DOVR LQWHUIHUH ZLWK RXU DELOLW\ WR FRPSO\ ZLWK
ILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJDQGRWKHUUHJXODWRU\UHTXLUHPHQWVH[SRVLQJXVWRSRWHQWLDOGLVFLSOLQDU\DFWLRQE\UHJXODWRUV

,QSURYLGLQJVHUYLFHVWRFOLHQWVZHPD\PDQDJHXWLOL]HDQGVWRUHVHQVLWLYHRUFRQILGHQWLDOFOLHQWRUHPSOR\HHGDWD
LQFOXGLQJSHUVRQDOGDWD$VDUHVXOWZHPD\EHVXEMHFWWRQXPHURXVODZVDQGUHJXODWLRQVGHVLJQHGWRSURWHFWWKLV
LQIRUPDWLRQ7KHVHODZVDQGUHJXODWLRQVDUHLQFUHDVLQJLQFRPSOH[LW\DQGQXPEHU,IDQ\SHUVRQLQFOXGLQJDQ\RI
RXUDVVRFLDWHVQHJOLJHQWO\GLVUHJDUGVRULQWHQWLRQDOO\EUHDFKHVRXUHVWDEOLVKHGFRQWUROVZLWKUHVSHFWWRFOLHQWRU
HPSOR\HH GDWD RU RWKHUZLVH PLVPDQDJHV RU PLVDSSURSULDWHV VXFK GDWD ZH FRXOG EH VXEMHFW WR VLJQLILFDQW
PRQHWDU\GDPDJHVUHJXODWRU\HQIRUFHPHQWDFWLRQVILQHVDQGRUFULPLQDOSURVHFXWLRQ,QDGGLWLRQXQDXWKRUL]HG
GLVFORVXUH RI VHQVLWLYH RU FRQILGHQWLDO FOLHQW RU HPSOR\HH GDWD ZKHWKHU WKURXJK V\VWHP IDLOXUH HPSOR\HH
QHJOLJHQFH IUDXG RU PLVDSSURSULDWLRQ FRXOG GDPDJH RXU UHSXWDWLRQ DQG FDXVH XV WR ORVH FOLHQWV DQG UHODWHG
UHYHQXH3RWHQWLDOOLDELOLW\LQWKHHYHQWRIDVHFXULW\EUHDFKRIFOLHQWGDWDFRXOGEHVLJQLILFDQW
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7KH&RPSDQ\PD\EHH[SRVHGWRGDPDJHWRLWVEXVLQHVVRULWVUHSXWDWLRQE\F\EHUVHFXULW\LQFLGHQWV

$VWKHZRUOGEHFRPHVPRUHLQWHUFRQQHFWHGWKURXJKWKHXVHRIWKHLQWHUQHWDQGXVHUVUHO\PRUHH[WHQVLYHO\RQWKH
LQWHUQHW IRU WKH WUDQVPLVVLRQ DQG VWRUDJH RI GDWD VXFK LQIRUPDWLRQ EHFRPHV PRUH VXVFHSWLEOH WR LQFXUVLRQ E\
KDFNHUVDQGRWKHUSDUWLHVLQWHQWRQVWHDOLQJRUGHVWUR\LQJGDWDRQZKLFKWKH&RPSDQ\RURXUFOLHQWVUHO\7KHVH
F\EHUVHFXULW\LQFLGHQWVKDYHLQFUHDVHGLQQXPEHUDQGVHYHULW\DQGLWLVH[SHFWHGWKDWWKHVHWUHQGVZLOOFRQWLQXH
6KRXOGWKH&RPSDQ\EHDIIHFWHGE\VXFKDQLQFLGHQWZHZRXOGEHH[SRVHGWROHJDOOLDELOLW\ORVVRIUHSXWDWLRQDV
ZHOODVLQFUHDVHGFRVWVUHODWHGWRSURWHFWLRQRIV\VWHPVDQGSURYLGLQJUHOLHIWRFOLHQWV,WLVLPSRVVLEOHIRUWKH
&RPSDQ\WRNQRZZKHQRULIVXFKLQFLGHQWVPD\DULVHRUWKHEXVLQHVVLPSDFWRIDQ\VXFKLQFLGHQW

2))%$/$1&(6+((7$55$1*(0(176

7KH&RPSDQ\KDVQRRIIEDODQFHVKHHWDUUDQJHPHQWV

&200,70(176

$SH[&OHDULQJ$JUHHPHQW

9ROHR 86$ HQWHUHG LQWR WKH &OHDULQJ $JUHHPHQW ZLWK $SH[ ZKHUHE\ $SH[ SHUIRUPV WKH IXQFWLRQ RI D FOHDULQJ
EURNHUWRPDLQWDLQFDVKPDUJLQRSWLRQRURWKHUDFFRXQWVIRU9ROHR86$DQGLWVFXVWRPHUV

3XUVXDQWWRWKH&OHDULQJ$JUHHPHQWDVDPHQGHG9ROHR86$LVUHTXLUHGWRPDLQWDLQDPLQLPXPEDODQFHLQWKH
'HSRVLW $FFRXQW  $V DW 'HFHPEHU   9ROHR 86$ PDLQWDLQHG D PLQLPXP EDODQFH LQ WKH DPRXQW RI
86LQDFFRUGDQFHZLWKWKH&OHDULQJ$JUHHPHQW

,QDGGLWLRQWKH&OHDULQJ$JUHHPHQWDVDPHQGHGUHTXLUHVPLQLPXPPRQWKO\FOHDUDQFHSD\PHQWVLQWKHDPRXQW
RI86HIIHFWLYH-XO\

.HZSDF&RQVXOWLQJ$JUHHPHQW

2Q'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\HQWHUHGLQWRDFRQVXOWLQJDJUHHPHQWZLWK.HZSDFWRSHUIRUPWKHIXQFWLRQV
RIDFRUSRUDWHDGYLVRU WKH³.HZSDF&RQVXOWLQJ$JUHHPHQW´ 

3XUVXDQW WR WKH .HZSDF &RQVXOWLQJ $JUHHPHQW WKH &RPSDQ\ VKDOO LVVXH XS WR D WRWDO RI  FRPPRQ
VKDUHV RI WKH &RPSDQ\ WR .HZSDF LQ LQVWDOOPHQWV XSRQ WKH DFKLHYHPHQW RI FHUWDLQ PLOHVWRQHV UHODWLQJ WR
FRPPHUFLDOL]DWLRQRIEXVLQHVVWREXVLQHVV ³%%´ DFWLYLWLHV

'XULQJWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\LVVXHGFRPPRQVKDUHVYDOXHGDW
SXUVXDQWWRWKH.HZSDF&RQVXOWLQJ$JUHHPHQWDQGUHODWHGPLOHVWRQHV

$VRI'HFHPEHUWKHUHUHPDLQVFRPPRQVKDUHVRIWKH&RPSDQ\LVVXDEOHWR.HZSDFXSRQ
WKH DFKLHYHPHQW RI FHUWDLQ PLOHVWRQHV GHILQHG LQ WKH .HZSDF &RQVXOWLQJ $JUHHPHQW  'XULQJ WKH \HDU HQGHG
'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\UHFRJQL]HGDUHFRYHU\RIVKDUHEDVHGSD\PHQWVH[SHQVHLQWKHDPRXQWRI
 ±H[SHQVHRI EDVHGRQWKHHVWLPDWHRIWKHVKDUHVH[SHFWHGWRYHVW

),6$JUHHPHQW

2Q$SULOWKH&RPSDQ\H[HFXWHGDQDJUHHPHQWZLWK)LGHOLW\,QIRUPDWLRQ6HUYLFHV//& ³),6´ ZKLFK
SURYLGHG),6WKHULJKWWRSXUFKDVHXSWR86 WKH³3XUFKDVH$PRXQW´ LQFRPPRQVKDUHVWREHSDLGLQ
WKUHHHTXDOLQVWDOOPHQWVRI86EDVHGRQFHUWDLQPLOHVWRQHVZKLFKZHUHFRPSOHWHGE\WKH&RPSDQ\E\
-XO\

$VDW'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\KDGUHFHLYHG 86 IURP),6ZKLFKLVLQFOXGHGLQWKH
EDODQFHRIREOLJDWLRQWRLVVXHFRPPRQVKDUHV6XEVHTXHQWWRWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUWKH&RPSDQ\
LVVXHGFRPPRQVKDUHVWR),6WRVDWLVI\WKHREOLJDWLRQ
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68%6(48(17(9(176

7KHIROORZLQJUHSRUWDEOHHYHQWVRFFXUUHGVXEVHTXHQWWRWKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

x 2Q)HEUXDU\WKH&RPSDQ\JUDQWHGUHVWULFWHGVKDUHXQLWV ³568V´ WRDFRQVXOWDQWRIWKH
&RPSDQ\

x 2Q0DUFKWKH&RPSDQ\LVVXHGFRPPRQVKDUHVXSRQWKHYHVWLQJRI568V

x ,Q0DUFKWKH:RUOG+HDOWK2UJDQL]DWLRQGHFODUHGDJOREDOSDQGHPLFUHODWHGWRWKHYLUXVNQRZQDV
&29,'7KHH[SHFWHGLPSDFWVRQJOREDOFRPPHUFHDUHDQWLFLSDWHGWREHIDUUHDFKLQJ7RGDWHWKHUH
KDYH EHHQ VLJQLILFDQW ZLGHVSUHDG VWRFN PDUNHW GHFOLQHV DQG WKH PRYHPHQW RI SHRSOH DQG JRRGV KDV
EHFRPHUHVWULFWHG

$VWKH&RPSDQ\KDVQRPDWHULDORSHUDWLQJLQFRPHRUFDVKIORZVLWLVUHOLDQWRQDGGLWLRQDOILQDQFLQJWRIXQG
RQJRLQJRSHUDWLRQV$QH[WHQGHGGLVUXSWLRQPD\DIIHFWWKH&RPSDQ\¶VDELOLW\WRREWDLQDGGLWLRQDOILQDQFLQJ
7KHLPSDFWRQWKHHFRQRP\DQGWKH&RPSDQ\LVQRW\HWGHWHUPLQDEOHKRZHYHUWKH&RPSDQ\¶VILQDQFLDO
SRVLWLRQUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGFDVKIORZVLQIXWXUHSHULRGVPD\EHPDWHULDOO\DIIHFWHG,QSDUWLFXODUWKHUH
PD\ EH KHLJKWHQHG ULVN RI DVVHW LPSDLUPHQW DQG OLTXLGLW\ RU JRLQJ FRQFHUQ XQFHUWDLQW\  7KH &RPSDQ\
FRQWLQXHVWRZRUNRQUHYLVLRQVWRIRUHFDVWVDQGSODQVLQOLJKWRIWKHFXUUHQWFRQGLWLRQVDQGZLOOXVHWKHVH
XSGDWHGDVVXPSWLRQVDQGIRUHFDVWVLQWKHPHDVXUHPHQWRIRXUDVVHWVJRLQJIRUZDUG

&RQVLVWHQWZLWK,)56WKH&RPSDQ\KDVQRWUHIOHFWHGWKHVHVXEVHTXHQWFRQGLWLRQVLQWKHPHDVXUHPHQWRI
DVVHWVRUOLDELOLWLHVDVDW'HFHPEHU

x 2Q$SULOWKH&RPSDQ\LVVXHGFRPPRQVKDUHVWR),6IRUFRQVLGHUDWLRQUHFHLYHGGXULQJ
WKH\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHUDVGHWDLOHGLQ³&RPPLWPHQWV´

$33529$/

7KH%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUVRIWKH&RPSDQ\KDVDSSURYHGWKHGLVFORVXUHFRQWDLQHGLQWKLV0' $



